Aus der Klinik und Poliklinik für Frauenheilkunde und Geburthilfe

Klinikum der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Direktor: Prof. Dr. Sven Mahner

# The expression of Sirtuin1 and its role in ovarian cancer

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

# Fangfang CHEN

aus

Yichun, Jiangxi, P.R.China

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Universität München

Berichtersttater:	Prof. Dr. Udo Jeschke	
Mitberichtersttater:	PD Dr. med. Elisa Schmoeckel	
	PD Dr. med. Clemens Gießen-Jung	
Mitbetreuung durch den		
promovierten Mitarbeiter:	Dr. med. Susanne Beyer	
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Gudermann	
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	31.03.2022	

# Affidavit

LUDWIG- MAXIMILIANS- UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN	Promotionsbüro Medizinische Fakultät		
	Affidavit		
Fangfang, Chen			
Surname, first name			
Street			
Zip code, town, countr	 Y	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

I hereby declare, that the submitted thesis entitled:

# The expression of Sirtuin1 and its role in ovarian cancer

is my own work. I have only used the sources indicated and have not made unauthorized use of services of a third party. Where the work of others has been quoted or reproduced, the source is always given.

I further declare that the submitted thesis or parts thereof have not been presented as part of an examination degree to any other university.

Yichun, 20.1.2022

Fangfang CHEN

place, date

Signature doctoral candidate

# Table of contents

Affidavit	I
1. Abbreviations	1
2. Figure legends	4
3. Table legends	5
4. Publication list	6
5. Introduction	7
5.1 SIRT1 localization	7
5.2 Interaction between SIRT1 and proteins	8
5.3 Activator for SIRT1: Resveratrol	. 11
5.4 Inhibitor for SIRT1: EX527	. 12
5.5 Function of SIRT1	. 13
5.5.1 SIRT1 and cellular metabolic process and mitochondrial biogenesis	. 13
5.5.2 SIRT1 and DNA repair	. 14
5.5.3 SIRT1 and the modulation of autophagy	. 15
5.5.4 SIRT1, cell senescence and aging processes	. 15
5.5.5 SIRT1 and the regulation of inflammation and immune	. 16

5.6 R	Role of SIRT1 in non-cancer diseases	17
5.7 R	Role of SIRT1 in cancer	19
5.7.	1 SIRT1 as a tumor promotor	20
5.7.	2 SIRT1 as a tumor suppressor	23
5.8 S	SIRT1 and RXR	26
5.9 A	ims of this study	27
6. Mate	erials and methods	28
6.1 C	Clinical samples	28
6.2 E	thics approval	28
6.3 C	Chemicals and antibodies	29
6.4 Ir	nmunohistochemistry	30
6.5 C	Cell culture	32
6.6 E	LISAs	32
6.6.	1 Cell viability assay	32
6.6.	2 Marker of proliferation: BrdU	33
6.7 A	poptosis assay	33

6.7.1 M30 staining
6.7.2 TUNEL
6.8 Western blotting
6.9 Statistics
7. Results 40
7.1 Correlation of RXR and SIRT1 expression with clinical and pathological data
7. 2 Correlation of RXR and SIRT1 expression with laboratory data
7.3 The interaction between SIRT1 and RXR49
8. Discussion
8.1 Comprehensive summary of the results51
8.2 Resveratrol partially inhibited proliferation and induced apoptosis in ovarian
cancer cell
8.3 Resveratrol did not decrease SIRT1 expression in carboplatin-resistant cell
lines
8.4 The mechanisms inducing apoptosis of mucinous and serous
8.5 Conclusion

9. Summary	60
10. Zusammenfassung	62
11. References	64
12. Acknowledgements	

# 1. Abbreviations

Amyloid-beta
protein kinase B
5' AMP-activated protein kinase
activator protein-1
adipose triglyceride lipase
Bcl-2 associated transcription factor 1
breast cancer type 1
caloric restriction
colorectal cancer
deleted in breast cancer 1
DNA damage response
diabetes- and obesity-regulated nuclear factor
deoxyuridine triphosphate
nitric oxide synthase 3
Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GATA binding protein 3
glutathione peroxidase
hepatocellular carcinoma
histone deacetylases
hypoxia-inducible factor-1α
high mobility group box 1 protein
heme oxygenase-1
interferon-gamma

iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase IRE1α inositol-requiring enzyme 1 α KLF4 Kruppel-like factor 4 LC3 Microtubule-associated protein 1A/1B-light chain 3 MDM2 mouse double minute 2 homolog MDSCs myeloid-derived suppressor cells MMP-2 matrix metalloproteinase-2 mTOR mammalian target of rapamycin NAD nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NAMPT nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase NRFs nuclear respiratory factor Nrf2 nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 NSCLC non-small cell lung cancer NF-ĸB nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells N-Myc basic helix-loop-helix protein 37 PARP Poly adenosine diphosphate ribose polymerase PBS Phosphate-buffered saline PGC-1α Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha PPARα proliferator-activated receptor alpha PPARy proliferator-activated receptor gama Polyvinylidene difluoride **PVDF** RIPA buffer Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer RSV Resveratrol, 3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene RXR retinoid X receptor

SIRT1	Silent mating type info	rmation regulation 2 ho	molog 1
-------	-------------------------	-------------------------	---------

- SOD superoxide dismutase
- SOX2 sex determining region Y-box transcription factor 2
- TdT terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase
- Tfam mitochondrial transcription factor A
- TNF-α tumor necrosis factor α
- TopBP1 topoisomerase binding protein 1
- TUNEL Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling
- VDR vitamin D receptor
- XRCC1 X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1
- YAP Yes-associated protein

# 2. Figure legends

Fig.1: The subcellular localizations of the Sirtuin group and their substrates targets.
Fig.2: SIRT1 cell signaling pathways11
Fig.3: The structure of resveratrol12
Fig.4: The major studied cytokines, proteins, and signaling pathway of SIRT1 in
the metabolic diseases, age-related diseases, cardiovascular diseases,
cancer, and neurodegeneration25
Fig.5: Representative images of SIRT1 and RXR (immunohistochemistry) of
ovarian cancer samples44
Fig.6: Cytoplasmic SIRT1 expression and overall survival versus overall survival
in patients with nuclear RXR-expression45
Fig.7: Cytotoxicity of resveratrol in ovarian cancer cells
Fig.8: Cell apoptosis measured by BrdU46
Fig.9: Effect of RSV-treatment and M30 identification on A2780 (A-C), A2780cis
( <b>D-F</b> ) and UWB1.289 ( <b>G-I</b> ) cells with 50 $\mu$ M and 100 $\mu$ M resveratrol for 24
hours
Fig.10: Apoptosis of A2780 (A-C), A2780cis (D-F) and UWB1.289 (G-I) by
TUNEL assay
Fig.11: Ovarian cancer cells were treated with RSV 50 $\mu$ M and RSV 100 $\mu$ M for 24
hour
Fig.12: SIRT1 in ovarian cancer

# 3. Table legends

.

Table 1:	Patients' characteristics	41
Table 2:	Expression profile of RXR and SIRT1 staining regarding clinical an	d
	pathological characteristics	41
Table 3:	Spearmann's correlation analysis between SIRT 1 and RXR	41
Table 4:	Multivariate analysis	42

# 4. Publication list

Histochem Cell Biol. 2020 Aug;154(2):189-195. doi: 10.1007/s00418-020-01873-x. Epub 2020 May 9.

# Sirtuin1 Expression and Survival in Endometrial and Clear-Cell Uterine Cancer

Susanne Beyer, Fangfang Chen, Sarah Meister, Bastian Czogalla, Theresa M Kolben, Anna Hester, Alexander Burges, Fabian Trillsch, Elisa Schmöckel, Doris Mayr, Artur Mayerhofer, Sven Mahner, Udo Jeschke, Thomas Kolben

# **5. Introduction**

### 5.1 SIRT1 localization

Silent mating type information regulation 2 homolog 1 (SIRT1) was discovered at yeast in the 1990s [1]. Subsequently, it was widely recognized in bacteria, yeasts, plants, and animals [2]. In 2013, the crystal structure of SIRT1 was identified [3]. SIRT1 is a member of the Sirtuin group, which belongs to the family of histone deacetylases (HDACs). This family shares a conserved catalytic core domain with nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide- dependent protein deacetylase activity. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) serves as a connection with oxidative stress, longevity, DNA damage and repair, caloric restriction (CR), exercise, inflammation, etc. And it extends the life span [4]. Few years later, Sirtuins were studied at molecular, cellular, and organismal levels. Although the members of the Sirtuin group share a relatively similar conserved catalytic core domain, their N- and C-terminal extensions vary. Therefore, their divergent biological functions such as subcellular localization, enzymatic activities and binding substrates are ascribed to the varying terminal extensions. SIRT2 is primarily a cytosolic protein; SIRT3, SIRT4, and SIRT5 are dominantly present in mitochondria, while SIRT6 and SIRT7 exist in the nucleus. The subcellular localization of SIRT1 has been believed in debate [5,6]. Most scientists esteemed that SIRT1 shuttled between nucleus and cytoplasm; however, a new study has shown that SIRT1's reside in nuclear localization and conventional cell fractionation makes SIRT1 in nucleus leaking to the cytoplasm [7]. The function of SIRT1 as deacetylation of histories leads to DNA coiling and gene silencing [8]. Through deacetylation of histone proteins by rising positive charge on the histone proteins, it enhances DNA affinity to histone proteins. As a result, it forms a condensed chromatin suppression transcription [9].

### Introduction



**Figure 1.** The subcellular localizations of the Sirtuin group and their substrates targets. SIRT1 is localized in the nucleus and cytoplasm. SIRT2 floats in the cytoplasm. SIRT3, SIRT4, and SIRT5 present in mitochondrial. SIRT6 and SIRT7 are dominantly in the nucleus. Adapted from:[10,11]

# 5.2 Interaction between SIRT1 and proteins

Compared to other Sirtuins, SIRT1 has been the most studied regulator during the last three decades. SIRT1 is a central pivotal interacting factor with plenty of complex networks of proteins that finally modulates plenty of biological processes [12]. Human SIRT1 interacts with different proteins and it plays an critical role in deciding cellular fate through DNA damage and repair mechanism, cell cycle regulation, energy metabolism, autophagy, apoptosis and others [13-18].

# p53 and SIRT1

p53 functions as "the guardian of the genome" by conserving genomic stability [19]. During the abundant nutrient environment, p53 represses the *SIRT1* gene promoter and decreases *SIRT1* activity [20]. p53 and Yes-associated protein (YAP) crosstalk via SIRT1 modulates cell G0/G1 arrest and apoptosis [21]. SIRT1 impedes the apoptotic progress of neurons by deacetylating and repressing p53 activity [22]. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) positively regulates SIRT1, which modulates macrophage

activation through the downstream SIRT1-p53 signaling pathway and regulates hepatocellular death [23]. Besides, the SIRT1-p53 signaling pathway promotes the apoptotic death [24,25], the pathogenesis of diabetic [26], and cancer cell sensitivity [27]. The SIRT1-p53 regulatory axis has multiple roles in aging-related diseases and cellular reprogramming [28], the fancy mechanism and basic principles for SIRT1 interacting with p53 should be investigated further.

## NF-KB and SIRT1

Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) is an essential upregulating protein that controls cell survival. Scientists found that SIRT1 closely cross-talks with NF- $\kappa$ B which aroused their interest, since NF- $\kappa$ B regulates innate immunity defense and SIRT1 modulates the oxidative respiration of cell [14,29]. Further evidence suggests that NF- $\kappa$ B activates glycolytic metabolism in acute inflammation progress. SIRT1 silences the NF- $\kappa$ B and stimulates oxidative metabolic processes that contribute to suppressing inflammation [14]. In addition, NF- $\kappa$ B decreases SIRT1 deacetylase activity by interferon-gamma (IFN $\gamma$ ) [30]. Therefore, the interaction between NF- $\kappa$ B and SIRT1 is quite well understood.

# AMPK and SIRT1

5' AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) modulates the cellular metabolism and energy expenditure through modulating the functional activity of SIRT1. More specifically, SIRT1 can activate AMPK and AMPK can activate SIRT1. So, AMPK and SIRT1 could interact with each other and share many downstream proteins and factors [31]. Allyl isothiocyanate, irisin, pinolenic acid, tilianin, resveratrol, and others are possibly related to activation of AMPK and SIRT1, influencing inflammation, apoptosis, oxidative stress, and energy metabolism [32-37]. SIRT1 interacts with resveratrol to stimulate AMPK in mitochondria [38]. Long-term exercise directly activates lysosome biogenesis through ascending AMPK-SIRT1 signaling and altering the autophagy/lysosome system [39].

The interaction between SIRT1 and AMPK can promote endocrine  $\beta$ -cell recovery and progenitor cell differentiation, and enhance the insulin sensitivity of peripheral skeletal muscle [40,41]. It is also reported that AMPK can be activated independently of SIRT1 [42].

# PGC-1α and SIRT1

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ) is be known as regulating mitochondrial function such as biogenesis and energy metabolism [43]. SIRT1 deacetylates PGC-1 $\alpha$  and its co-activator peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR $\alpha$ ) [44,45] finally altering the transcriptional activity of PGC-1 $\alpha$  in the skeletal muscle and liver [46,47]. SIRT1/PGC-1 $\alpha$  signaling is involved in metabolic control [48] and oxidative stress [49]. In addition, AMPK and SIRT1 are gatekeepers of mitochondria biosynthesis: AMPK, SIRT1, and PGC-1 $\alpha$ form an orchestrated metabolic homeostasis network [46].

SIRT1 bonding with PGC-1 $\alpha$  enhances tissue antioxidant capacity and increases the level of superoxide dismutase (SOD) as well as glutathione peroxidase (GSH-PX) in cellular [46,50,51]. SIRT1 rules the acetylation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  and dominates its downstream nuclear transcription factors and proteins such as nuclear respiratory factor (NRFs), further shaping mitochondrial biogenesis and performance [52]. In addition, SIRT1 is necessary for mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative metabolism in cells, for example, induction of PGC-1 $\alpha$ /PPAR $\alpha$  signaling pathway to increased adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL)-mediated lipolysis [53].



**Figure 2.** SIRT1 cell signaling pathways.  $\rightarrow$ , positive regulation; ---1, negative regulation. ACE2, Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2;Atg8, Autophagy-related protein 8; Atg12, Autophagy-related protein 12; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; AngII, Angiotensin II; BAX, Bcl-2-associated X protein; FOXO, forkhead box O; IL-1, interleukin-1; IL-4, interleukin-4; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-8, interleukin-8; JNK, Jun amino-terminal kinase; MnSOD, manganese superoxide dismutase; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NFATC1, Nuclear Factor Of Activated T Cells 1; Nrf2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; NF- $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor-kappa B; PPAR $\alpha$ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor coactivator 1- $\alpha$ ; PGC1- $\alpha$ , Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha; SIRT, sirtuin1; Smad2, SMAD Family Member 2; TNF-2, Tumor necrosis factor receptor 2. Adapted from: [54]

# 5.3 Activator for SIRT1: Resveratrol

One activator of SIRT1 is resveratrol (3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene; RSV). It is a plant phenol and originates from the grapes, berries and peanuts [55]. Resveratrol is an effective agent in antimicrobial, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer therapy [56,57]. It also has been demonstrated that resveratrol stimulates SIRT1 through PGC-1α-mediated mitochondrial biogenesis, and as a result, ameliorates cardiac injuries in diabetic cardiomyopathy [58]. Further evidence proved that resveratrol is involved in the cardioprotective effects through increasing SIRT1-p53 signaling activation [59]. For example, resveratrol upregulates SIRT1 and alleviates acute hepatotoxicity [60]. Resveratrol also has anti-inflammatory and antioxidant function by increasing the

SIRT1 level in neuroprotection [22]. A new study revealed that resveratrol activates SIRT1 to inhibit osteoarthritis disease progression [61]. Besides that, resveratrol has an anti-hyperuricemia function in mice [62]. Shatti pointed out that resveratrol protects against cadmium chloride-induced hippocampal neurotoxicity through activating SIRT1-AMPK signaling pathway [35]. Even though plenty of studies have shown the therapeutic effect of resveratrol, the weakness of this compound should be considered: Resveratrol has a high oral absorption (75%) but a low bioavailability (less than 1%) [63]. Therefore, more approaches to resveratrol's pharmaceutical formulation should be investigated [64]. In addition, this compound has been examined in phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials [65-67]. So, the application of resveratrol in clinical practice is foreseeable within the next years. SRT1720, SRT1460, SRT2183, and SRT2104 are all derivatives of an imidazothiazole scaffold and 1,000-fold more potent than resveratrol [68].



Figure 3. The structure of resveratrol. From:[69]

### 5.4 Inhibitor for SIRT1: EX527

EX527 has been identified as a highly selective small-molecule inhibitor against SIRT1 [70]. Treatment with EX527 leads to suppression of SIRT1 activity, which enhances p53 acetylation, while it does not change human cell line performance following DNA damage [71]. On the one hand, EX527 activated p53 and its downstream proteins contribute to apoptotic death in gliomas [72]. On the other hand, EX527 was proved harmful to the early development of vertebrate embryos, it could induce neural tube defects and other abnormalities and malformations [73]. Recently,

EX527 (SEN0014196) has been used in Huntington's disease Phase II clinical trial[74]. As a weak SIRT1 inhibitor, nicotinamide reacts with the  $\alpha$ -1'-O-alkylamidate intermediate to produce plenty of N $\epsilon$ -acyl-lysine substrates [75]. Except for the above compounds, Wang summarized thoroughly the other SIRT1 inhibitor from the structures and their activities [76].

### 5.5 Function of SIRT1

## 5.5.1 SIRT1 and cellular metabolic process and mitochondrial biogenesis

In the central nervous system, SIRT1 is strongly participated in tissue and cell metabolism of vertebrates. Caloric restriction (CR) is an efficiently dietary intervention to delay aging and extending life arrange from yeasts to primates. SIRT1 is involved in caloric restriction through the functioning of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis [77]. For instance, SIRT1 deacetylates proteins and factors in the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus [78] and pro-opiomelanocortin neurons [79]. As a result, it retains mammal energy homeostasis maintenance on the neuroendocrine system. In peripheral tissues, SIRT1 is involved in metabolic control. PGC-1α acts as a central inducer in oxidative metabolism and mitochondrial biogenesis in cells. As mentioned previously, SIRT1 interacts with PGC-1 $\alpha$  and this affects cellular metabolism and mitochondrial transcription. Puigserver et al. showed that SIRT1 bonds with PGC-1a to enhance the production of hepatic gluconeogenesis during fasting. Similarly, the deacetylation of PGC-1a by SIRT1 is essential for the activation of fatty acid oxidation genes in peripheral skeletal muscle mitochondria [16,45]. Wu et al. proved that SIRT1 is involved in  $\beta$ -cell regeneration of patients with diabetes. They found that SIRT1 enhances β-cell regeneration by activating AMPK mediated fatty acid oxidation to activate endocrine progenitor cell differentiation [40]. Plenty of studies provided dynamical insights as SIRT1 deacetylation of PGC-1α [46-48].

## 5.5.2 SIRT1 and DNA repair

Evidence proved that SIRT1 serves as a central regulator of DNA repair and DNA damage response (DDR) in the nucleus and that mitochondria restore chromatin to maintain genomic stability. SIRT1 phosphorylation delicately modifies the frequency of replication origins and prevents over-replication [80]. Homo sapiens SIRT1 could modulate DNA binding and stable DNA replication factor, while both have synergistically effect on the DNA replication fork initiation [81]. SIRT1 deacetylates DNA topoisomerase binding protein 1 (TopBP1), resulting in DNA replication inhibition and checkpoint inactivation [82].

SIRT1 recruits plenty of DNA repair proteins to cope with DNA damage response process. For instance, SIRT1 deacetylated Nibrin (a protein associated with double strand DNA break repair), Ku70, and other proteins related to DNA repair. So it acts as a mediator in various aspects of the DNA damage response in a dynamic regulation [83-88]. In addition, Oberdoerffer and his colleagues observed that redistribution of SIRT1 and other intracellular chromatin-modifying proteins in the nucleus under various pressure from intracellular and extracellular ultimately contributes to DNA breaks repair [89]. SIRT1 can manipulate the chromatin state by modulating epigenetic change and gene expressions such as the histone modifications H4K16Ac and H3K4me3 [90]. SIRT1 inhibition induces p53 activation, which increases DNA damage and decreases levels of DNA repair enzymes in human embryonic stem cells. As a consequence, it results in apoptosis of cells [91]. SIRT1 deacetylates mouse double minute 2 homolog (MDM2), inducing MDM2 degradation and thereby prevents p53 degradation as well [92]. In epigenetics, SIRT1 serves as

an essential epigenetic regulator to restore DNA damage [93].

## 5.5.3 SIRT1 and the modulation of autophagy

Accumulating evidence has proved that SIRT1 regulates autophagy in the cellular process [94-98]. Microtubule-associated protein 1A/1B-light chain 3 (LC3) acts as an initiator of autophagy. Under the insufficient external nutrients environment, SIRT1 deacetylation of LC3 subsequently formed LC3 and diabetes- and obesity-regulated nuclear factor (DOR) complex, leading to LC3-DOR complex shuttle from nuclear to cytoplasm. Furthermore, SIRT1 deacetylates LC3 and other autophagy factors. As a result, autophagosomy is formed [99]. SIRT1 activates AMPK and inhibits inositol-requiring enzyme 1  $\alpha$  (IRE1 $\alpha$ ). Consequently, it advanced autophagy processes and decreased apoptosis hedge from cell hypoxic stress [100]. SIRT1 is essential for adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL)-mediated signaling to promotion autophagy. Meanwhile, SIRT1 mediates the effects of ATGL to manipulate hepatic lipid metabolism [101].

## 5.5.4 SIRT1, cell senescence and aging processes

SIRT1 is involved in increasing life span and delays aging in saccharomyces cerevisiae, drosophila, and in rodents [102-104]. Loss of SIRT1 shortens life span of Saccharomyces cerevisiae [105]. Standard diet with resveratrol in mice did not extend lifespan but delayed age-related deterioration [106,107]. As a key regulator protein, the level of SIRT1 in mRNA and protein is under close supervision. SIRT1 changed with age yet. Not only the level of SIRT1 altered with age in various tissue but also the activity of SIRT1 is decreased with age [26,108,109]. Hyperglycaemia-induced down-regulation of SIRT1 increases oxidative stress in diabetes-induced endothelial senescence [110]. However, the activation of SIRT1 can reverse aging. Gano et al. found out that SRT1720 (an activator of SIRT1) enhanced cyclooxygenase-2 level

and reduced excessive superoxide production as well as inflammation factor, which improves the outcome of vascular endothelial function in aging mice [111].

#### 5.5.5 SIRT1 and the regulation of inflammation and immune

NF-κB remains a central protein of the inflammatory response. SIRT1 deacetylates p65 and modulates the transcription level of the inflammatory factors and cytokine such as interleukines and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) [29,112,113]. There is a closely coordination crosstalk that occurs between NF-κB and SIRT1 in the manipulate of energy metabolism and cancer inflammation. NF-κB signaling stimulates glucose metabolism and increases the energy supply in the process of acute inflammation, while the activation of SIRT1 inhibits NF-κB in the inflammation resolution phases. SIRT1 activates AMPK, PPAR- $\alpha$ , and PGC-1 $\alpha$  and as a result, it inhibits NF-κB and thereby suppresses inflammation process. Furthermore, NF-κB lessens SIRT1 activity and promotes inflammatory process by a high level of miR-34a, IFNγ, and ROS [14].

SIRT1 may contribute to the anti-inflammatory factors in neuroinflammation [114]. In pancreatic damage, SIRT1 reduces inflammation and oxidative stress while enhancing pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells' insulin release [115]. In airway inflammation, there seems to be a dual role of SIRT1 as proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory actor. For example, in asthma, proinflammatory actions of SIRT1 increase the level of hypoxia-inducible factor 1  $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) while decreasing proliferator-activated receptor gama (PPAR $\gamma$ ) activity. The anti-inflammatory actions of SIRT1 decline the acetylation of GATA binding protein 3(GATA3) and expression of NF- $\kappa$ B [9]. Regarding CD4+ T-Cells, SIRT1 inhibits the promotor of Bcl-2 associated transcription factor 1(Bclaf1) after stimulation of the T-Cell receptor, thus regulating Bclaf1 in T-Cell development and homeostasis [116,117]. Inhibition of SIRT1

promotes IL-9-producing CD4+ T-Cell differentiation [118], while SIRT1 inhibitors enrich the function of Treg cells to support immune tolerance [119]. Transcription factors p65 also bonded with SIRT1 contributes to net immunosuppressive effects in T-Cells [120]. In CD8+ memory T-Cell, SIRT1 is linked to cell metabolic reprogramming [121].

SIRT1 plays an anti-inflammatory role in myeloid cells. As mentioned above, SIRT1 bonds with and deacetylates the NF- $\kappa$ B/p65. Knockout of SIRT1 renders hyperacetylated NF- $\kappa$ B and promotes an inflammatory response in mice [122]. Similar, in inflammatory bowel disease, the deletion of SIRT1 in macrophages prompts transcriptional activation of TNF- $\alpha$  [123]. Additionally, reduced expression of SIRT1 through deacetylating NF- $\kappa$ B may sustain aberrant chromatin structure and functions in chronic inflammation and cancer [124]. SIRT1 restrains the activity of activator protein-1(AP-1) as well as the level of cyclooxygenase-2, and it ameliorates macrophage function [125].

In innate immune response, SIRT1 regulates myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) through NF-κB and PGC-1signaling to influence the MDSCs. In adaptive immune cells, SIRT1 mediates the differentiation of T-Cell subsets with other factors. Therefore, we can hold a viewpoint that the SIRT1 deacetylation makes a bridge between the innate immune response and adaptive immune response [126,127].

#### 5.6 Role of SIRT1 in non-cancer diseases

SIRT1 has been considered promising therapeutic targets and received considerable attention in research in recent decades due to inflammation, metabolic disease, and neurodegeneration impact on the whole community with the aging population expand [9,128-130].

In cardiovascular diseases, dietary restriction is a useful intervention. SIRT1 as a

primary cardiovascular protective factor connected with mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), AMPK, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase constitutes a cardiovascular protective signal network [131]. Vitamin D (1,25(OH)2-D3) has a protective effect on diabetic cardiomyopathy through SIRT1-mediated signal pathway [132]. SIRT1 has a negative effect on restraining the development of cardiac hypertrophy through acetylation and phosphorylation of protein kinase C, zeta (PKC- $\zeta$ ) [133]. While a new meta-analysis of available clinical trials has suggested that resveratrol supplementation does not bring any profit to cardiovascular risk factors [134].

In diabetes, SIRT1 serves as maintenance of glucose and lipid metabolism such as gluconeogenesis, insulin secretion, lipid synthesis, and cholesterol transport [135]. Therefore, SIRT1 is a promising pharmacological therapeutic approach to alleviate insulin resistance and treat type 2 diabetes mellitus. SIRT1 suppressing NF- $\kappa$ B signaling protects pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells from oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokines [136]. SIRT1 deacetylates PGC-1 $\alpha$  and activates PPAR $\alpha$ , promoting fatty acid oxidation as well as mitochondrial biogenesis and inducing adiponectin. As a consequence, it regulates metabolic homeostasis and reduces oxidative stress against insulin resistance, obesity, and diabetes [45,137-140]. Based on the experiment, more drugs and clinical trials can be expected to ameliorate diabetes. In neurodegeneration disorder, the neuroprotective effect of SIRT1 has been proved in many neurological diseases such as ischemic stroke and age-related diseases. SIRT1 is widely distributed in neuronal and glial cells. SIRT1 modulates the multiple nerve cellular physiological function such as neural progenitor growth, axon elongation, and dendritic branching [141]. Loss of SIRT1 impairs memory function,

18

weakens short-term memory and damages long-term memory [142]. In addition,

SIRT1 works as a critical mediator in synaptic plasticity, cognitive functions [142], blood-brain barrier permeability [143], and memory function [144]. SIRT1 reduces the formation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates in Parkinson's disease patients [145]. Amyloid-beta (A $\beta$ ) peptides generation and accumulation in the brain leads to progressive neurodegenerative disorder and eventually impairment cognition. SIRT1 inhibiting NF- $\kappa$ B signaling results in decreasing amyloid-beta toxicity in microglia, which mitigates the progress of Alzheimer's disease [146]. In addition, SIRT1 combined with PGC-1 $\alpha$ , p53, and tau, which protects neurons against oxidative stress, reduce mitochondrial dysfunction and prevent neuronal apoptosis [22,147-150]. In ischemic injury, evidence directly showed that the infarct area in SIRT1 knockout mice was increased compared to the control [151]. Lots of studies proved that treatment with the Sirt1-activator resveratrol in vivo and vitro could reduce ischemic infarcts, increase angiogenesis, decrease in oxidative stress, and enhance the level of glucose and adenosine triphosphate. Eventually, SIRT1 improved neurological functions [152-156].

#### 5.7 Role of SIRT1 in cancer

Downregulation of SIRT1 expression in numerous human malignancies has been identified [157]. SIRT1 is closely connected to tumorigenesis and metastasis. The effect of SIRT1 on cancer remains complicated and controversial due to the fact that it serves either as a tumor suppressor or as a stimulator in cancer cells. The effect of SIRT1 on cancer highly depends on upstream or downstream factors and proteins as well as on its spatial distribution and tumor types [158,159]. AMPK and SIRT1 were considered as energy sensor net to regulate cancer cell metabolism [46,160]. As previously described, NF-kB and SIRT1 play a bridging role between innate immunity and energy metabolism. There is antagonistic crosstalk between immunity and metabolism [14,161]. For cancer immunotherapy, it is possible to find an approach to cure cancer, because SIRT1 is involved in T-Cell differentiation, immune tolerance, and cell reprogramming [118,121,162].

# 5.7.1 SIRT1 as a tumor promotor

SIRT1 maintains cancer genomic instability and promotes cancer evolution by resisting cell apoptosis, sustaining proliferation signaling, evading growth suppressors, stimulating angiogenesis, promoting invasion, inducing metastasis, downregulating cellular energetics, and altering the cancer microenvironment, etc.

The increased expression of SIRT1 distributes in various cancer types such as breast cancer [163,164], prostate cancer [165,166], ovarian cancer, colon cancer [167], hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [168] etc. Furthermore, SIRT1 overexpression is connected with advanced tumors and distant metastases, which often implies poor clinical outcomes and prognosis [169]. It affects various cell processes through regulating numerous genes and proteins like p53, NF- $\kappa$ B, PGC1- $\alpha$  [170].

#### **Breast cancer**

SIRT1 is closely related to breast cancer. For example, SIRT1 inhibits p53 and activates DNA polymerase delta 1. As a consequence, it induces proliferation, metastasis, and increases aggressiveness of breast cancer [171].

Deleted in breast cancer 1 (DBC1) and SIRT1 is related to poor outcome for breast cancer [163]. Furthermore, DBC1 specifically inhibits SIRT1 and eventually induces apoptotic cell death [172]. SIRT1 could increase the level of matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2), and MMP-2 enhances tumor aggressiveness and distant metastasis by degrading the extracellular matrix. It restrains cancer cell apoptosis and enhances the ability to resist oxidative stress [173]. It is reported that HIF-1 $\alpha$  is deacetylated and inactivated by SIRT1, and that decreased HIF-1 $\alpha$  results

in elevated levels of aromatase in breast tissues in postmenopausal women [174].

### **Hepatic cancer**

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the second most lethal tumor globally [175]. A low level of SIRT1 is expressed in healthy people liver but SIRT1 is highly expressed in HCC cell lines and patients [176,177]. Chen and his group noticed that overexpression of SIRT1 elevated tumorigenesis and chemo resistance in HCC [168]. Numerous factors and proteins binding to SIRT1 influence the HCC cell behavior [178]. SIRT1 plays a substantial role not only in tumorigenesis, but also in differentiation, migration, and apoptosis by activating many signaling pathways [179,180].

High expression of SIRT1 in hepatocellular carcinoma stem cells (CSC) contributes to enhancing the self-renewal and tumorigenic potential of CSC [181]. The mechanism of inducing and maintaining self-renewal in hepatic CSC is also connected with SIRT1 regulation of sex determining region Y-box transcription factor 2 (SOX2). Furthermore, overexpression of exogenous SIRT1 restores the self-renewal potential of non-CSC [182]. In addition, the interaction between SIRT1 and the mitochondrial ribosomal protein S5 axis modulates the metabolic ability of hepatic CSC [183].

#### Lung cancer

Chen and his group member reported that overexpression of SIRT1 works as an activator in lung cancer tumorigenesis, and they demonstrated further that a high level of SIRT1 is connected with aggressiveness and metastasis in lung adenocarcinoma [184]. SIRT1 not only promotes metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) but is also overexpressed in brain metastatic tissues of NSCLC [185]. The latest researches pointed out that a higher level of SIRT1 and AMPK are associated with the growth and development of NSCLC [186]. SIRT1 positively enhances tumor growth

and metastasis and plays a positive regulatory role.

For the issue of chemoresistance in lung cancer, SIRT1 elevates human lung cancer sensitivity of the anticancer effects to cisplatin [187]. SIRT1 deacetylates and stabilizes X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1 (XRCC1) to increase the chemoresistance of lung cancer cells [188]. More research about SIRT1 is to be expected for drug resistance studies in tumors.

# **Colorectal cancer**

Recent studies have suggested that SIRT1 is an appropriate marker for predicting poor outcomes in non-colorectal gastrointestinal cancer, but this phenomenon could not be observed in colorectal cancer (CRC) [189]. Several factors and proteins are involved in regulating SIRT1 to ultimately affect colorectal cancer cell behavior. Several factors and proteins are involved in the regulation of SIRT1 influence colorectal cancer cell behavior. Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), an enzyme converting nicotinamide, regulates colon cancer stem cell properties and resistance to therapy through SIRT1 and poly adenosine diphosphate ribose polymerase (PARP) [190]. SIRT1 is involved in hypoxia promotion colorectal cancer cell migration. Phosphorylated NF-κB expression promotes invasion and progression through SIRT11-inducing angiogenesis [191]. SIRT1 bonded with NF-κB decreases MMP-2 and promotes colorectal cancer cell invasion [192].

#### **Prostate cancer**

In prostate cancer, the increased SIRT1 expression induces neuroendocrine differentiation of prostate cancer through activating protein kinase B (Akt). Besides, the interaction between Akt and SIRT1 facilitates neuroendocrine prostate cancer tumorigenesis when basic helix-loop-helix protein 37 (N-Myc) is blocked [193]. Blyes group found that elevating of SIRT1 with decreased expression of E-cadherin in

prostate cancer thereby damages the epithelial morphology concomitant, and plenty of mesenchymal markers also increased, eventually contributing to prostate cancer cell metastasis [194].

### 5.7.2 SIRT1 as a tumor suppressor

As reviewed above, plenty of strong evidence exists to elucidate SIRT1 as a tumor promoter. However, some papers published that SIRT1 can also function as a tumor suppressor.

### **Breast cancer**

Although numerous papers have demonstrated that there is an increase in SIRT1 in breast cancer development, a high level of SIRT1 has also been reported to inhibit breast cancer cell growth and proliferation. Rifai reported that an inverse relationship between SIRT1 overexpression and breast cancer aggressiveness [195]. In human breast carcinoma, SIRT1 showed a correlation to epigenetic markers such as H3K4ac, H3K9ac, and H4K16ac as a breast cancer-related gene promoters [196]. To find a promising therapeutic avenue to conquer breast cancer and to prolong survival years of patients, numerous compounds and treatment had been proposed. Treatment of doxorubicin combined with resveratrol effectively changes the fate of cancer with inhibiting cell growth, suppressing cell migration, and promoting cell apoptosis [197]. In addition, the same phenomenon was found in the treatment with doxorubicin combined with nicotinamide [198]. Also, Fatehi et al. demonstrated that activation of SIRT1 increased the efficacy and sensitivity of chemo-radio-therapy in triple-negative breast cancer, especially when patients were pretreated by Interleukin-6 [199].

#### Hepatic cancer

In the normal liver, SIRT1 modulates lipid homeostasis through peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor alpha (PPAR $\alpha$ ). SIRT1 interacts with PPAR $\alpha$  and

activates PPARα coactivator PGC-1α. In knockout SIRT1 mice, various impaired liver functions such as hepatic steatosis and liver inflammation were observed [200]. In malignant HCC, SIRT1 and β-Catenin were co-overexpressed but SIRT1 suppressed Wnt-β-Catenin [201]. SIRT1 impacted on polarization M1-like macrophage through reinforcing infiltration and inhibited HCC metastasis. In addition, SIRT1 reinforced NF-κB stimulation, increasing its downstream phosphorylation of p65, and some kinases [202].

Therapeutic drugs have been suggested to suppress tumor development in the recent years. Resveratrol inhibits HCC cell proliferation and migration. This chemical compound elevated SIRT1 expression and decreased the downstream proteins to regulate post-translational modification [203]. Low dose of metformin prompted hepatoma cell senescence through activation of AMPK and inactivation of SIRT1. Functionally, AMPK negatively regulation of the level of SIRT1 prompted metformin-induced senescence in HCC xenografts [204].

### Lung cancer

A recent study showed that SIRT1-positive patients with NSCLC had longer survival time [205]. SIRT1 overexpression postponed the appearance of K-Ras-driven lung adenocarcinomas, decreasing the number and size of carcinoma and extending survival time of mice [206]. SIRT1 inversely regulates the protein expression of the NF-κB signaling pathway, which facilitates apoptotic death of lung cancer cells [207]. In lung cancer, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> activation of AMPK and subsequent SIRT1 phosphorylation inhibits the deacetylation activity of p53, which likewise regulates programmed cell death [208]. Resveratrol induced apoptosis and autophagy in lung cancer via inhibiting the mTOR and its downstream proteins [209]. In NSCLC, metformin combined with tenovin-6 inhibited SIRT1 expression induced caspase-3-dependent

apoptosis, increased p53 acetylation, and subsequently enhanced p53 stability, promoting apoptosis [210]. MiR-138 decreased SIRT1 levels to inactivity of AMPK and promoted the mTOR phosphorylation. At last, it lowers the level of SIRT1 and lifts autophagy of NSCLC [211].

#### **Colorectal cancer**

SIRT1 inhibits the proliferation and tumor formation of colorectal cancer (CRC) [212]. In the colorectal cancer, cells which expresses wild-type p53, SIRT1 inhibitors decreased the anti-tumor effects of multiple chemotherapeutic drugs [213]. Leptin induces SIRT1 expression via stimulating nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) which induces obesity-associated colon carcinogenesis [214]. Butyrate suppresses the growth of cells and induces the apoptosis of CRC by inactivation of mTOR signaling. This process is mediated by SIRT1 downregulation [215].

#### **Prostate cancer**

Overexpressed SIRT1 reverses epithelial–mesenchymal transition and prevents prostate cancer progression. miR-204 targets SIRT1 and thus decreases deacetylation of p53 in prostate cancer cells. As a consequence, acetylated p53 upregulates the expression of apoptotic proteins followed by induction of mitochondrial apoptosis [216].



**Figure 4.** The major studied cytokines, proteins, and signaling pathway of SIRT1 in the metabolic diseases, age-related diseases, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and neurodegeneration. Adapted from [22,28]

#### 5.8 SIRT1 and RXR

Retinoid X receptor (RXR), nuclear hormone receptor, serves as a famous transcription factor. It promotes transcription of the downstream target gene. Three isoforms of RXR are represented in humans: RXR $\alpha$ , RXR $\beta$ , and RXR $\gamma$ . Among these subtypes, RXR $\alpha$  is the first RXR subtype, whose structure was identified [217]. Despite the distributions of RXR subtypes are different, their functions are the same and overlap [218].

The RXR heterodimers can be divided into two main groups: permissive heterodimers (for example, RXR/PPAR) and non-permissive heterodimers (for instance, RXR/ Vitamin D receptor) [218]. The discrepancy between permissive and non-permissive heterodimers is whether these ligands interact strongly constitutively with RXR [219]. RXR and its numerous ligands hold a central position in genomic and non-genomic functions in the cell. RXR works as an important mediator in the development of certain cancers. It is overexpressed during cancer progression [220,221]. For example, RXR overexpression is found in 70% of ductal breast cancer [218]. A high level of RXR also is found in endometrial cancer [222].

Besides, there are many co-regulators between SIRT1 and RXR in cancer. The vitamin D receptor (VDR) is overexpressed in all gynecologic cancers and vitamin D-related signaling pathways predict the risk and clinical outcome of gynecologic cancers as well [223]. An interaction between RXR and VDR has been demonstrated, suggesting that they exert an effects on ovarian cancer [224]. SIRT1 enzymatically promotes 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 3 signaling through deacetylation of the vitamin D receptor [225]. Another example is PPAR<sub>Y</sub>: RXR binds to PPAR<sub>Y</sub> and they affect cancer biology and lipid metabolism [226,227]. PPAR<sub>Y</sub>/SIRT1 participates in the progression of cancer cell behavior through activating mitochondrial dysfunction as

well [228]. However, the exact interaction between SIRT1 and RXR is not clear until now.

### 5.9 Aims of this study

SIRT1 is known for its participation in the modulation of many cellular physiological processes, including growth, migration, differentiation, and apoptosis. It plays an evolving role in certain cancers. However, the effect of SIRT1 on the survival and proliferation of ovarian cancer cells remains controversial issues, and its role in ovarian cancer is unclear. Besides, the treatment of ovarian cancer is still an unsolved problem, especially for platinum resistant ovarian cancer.

Therefore, it is necessary to study the function and effect of SIRT1 in ovarian cancer. Resveratrol, a well-known SIRT 1 activator can help us to understand the underlying mechanisms of SIRT1 activation in ovarian cancer. It also can serve as a target in cancer therapy.

Purpose: Role of SIRT1 and its overexpression in ovarian cancer.

Aims:

1. Examining the expression of SIRT1 in ovarian cancer and correlation with histopathological data including survival data

2. Treating ovarian cancer in vitro by resveratrol and collecting laboratory data to study the role of SIRT1 and its interaction with resveratrol.

# 6. Materials and methods

# 6.1 Clinical samples

After institutional ethics committee approval, we included 123 female patients ranged in age from 20 to 88 (median age was 59 years) who received a diagnosis of ovarian cancer, and who received surgery because of ovarian cancer. All the ovarian cancer specimens were collected for histopathological diagnostics during surgery. Because other ovarian histological subtypes samples were quite rare only serous and mucinous samples were included. As positive controls for immunohistochemically staining, palatine tonsil for SIRT1 and first-trimester placenta for retinoid X receptor (RXR) staining were used. The overall median survival year of the patients was 2.67 years. All the clinical samples were collected from 1990 to 2002 at the Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Ludwig-Maximilians-University of Munich, Germany. Histopathological data were cited by the original record from 1990-2002, resulting in a grading G1 to G3 for serous carcinomas (Today serous ovarian cancer is distinguished in high grade and low grade). The follow-up data for statistical analyses were provided by the Munich cancer registry and retrieved from medical records.

# 6.2 Ethics Approval

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the local ethics committee of the Ludwig-Maximilians University of Munich (APPROVAL NUMBER 227-09 and 18-392). The study was performed and conducted conforming to the Declaration of Helsinki.

6.3	Chemi	cals	and	antibodies

A2780	ATCC, USA
ABC detection kit	Vectastain, USA
anti-SIRT1 rabbit IgG	Atlas Antibody, Sweden
anti-RXR rabbit IgG	PPMX, Japan
Bradford reagent	Bio-Rad, USA
BrdU (Bromodeoxyuridine) kit	Roche, Switzerland
BCIP/NBT -chromogen substrate solution	Vector, Germany
CASEIN	Vector, Germany
A2780cis	ATCC, USA
DMSO	SERVA, Germany
Elx800 universal Microplate Reader	BioTek,USA
Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline	Gibco, USA
Fetal Bovine Serum	Biochrom, Germany
FragEL <sup>™</sup> DNA Fragmentation Detection Kit	MERCK, USA
GAPDH	GeneTex, USA
GelScan V6.0 1D Analysis Software	SERVA, Germany
HRP-Polymer-Kit (mouse/rabbit)	Zytomed Systems, Germany
Mini Protean 3 System	Bio-Rad, USA
Mini Trans-Blot Filtterpaper	Bio-Rad, USA
MTT	Sigma, USA
M30 CytoDeath	Roche, Switzerland
--	------------------------------
Methanol	J.T.Baker,Germany
Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)	Sigma, USA
PVDF membrane	Roche, Switzerland
Precast Gel Mini-Protein TGX	Bio-Rad,USA
Protein Standard ladder	Fermentas,Germany
Resveratrol	Sigma, USA
RIPA buffer	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Luis, USA
Roti-Load1 4x-concentrated proben buffer	Roche, Switzerland
RPMI1640	Gibco, USA
Tris/Glycine/SDS 10 x buffer	Bio-Rad, USA
Tris/Glycine10 x buffer	Bio-Rad, USA
UWB1.289	ATCC, USA
Vectastain ABC-AmP Reagent	Bio-Rad, USA

#### 6.4 Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin-embedded slides of 3µm were dewaxed in xylol. The slides were washed in 100% ethanol for 5 seconds. All the sample slides were immersed in 3% methanol/ hydrogen peroxide for 20 minutes and rehydrated in a descending row of alcohols. For heat-induced antigen retrieval, sodium citrate buffer (distilled water with 0.1 M citric acid + 0.1 M sodium citrate; pH=6.0) was utilized in a pressure cooker. After washing the slides with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), blocked them for 30 minutes with a blocking solution. These slides were incubated with primary polyclonal anti-SIRT1 (rabbit,1:300 dilution) and polyclonal anti-RXR (rabbit,1:300 dilution) as

primary antibodies for 16 hours at 4°C overnight. After washing 3 times, the secondary antibodies of HRP-polymer were utilized to detect reactivity. HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies were used for 30 minutes at room temperature, followed by another washing step. Subsequently, the bound antibody complexes were detected by the chromogen-3,3'-diaminobenzidin (DAB) substrate, whereas Mayer's hemalum (2min) served as a counterstain. After washing with water, all the slides were dehydrated in an ascending row of alcohols and soaked with paraffin oil ultimately. Immunostaining was detected with the substrate and the chromogen-3, 3'-diaminobenzidin character and the chromogen-3, 3'-diaminobenzidin and the chromogen-3, 3'-diaminobenzidin character and the chromogen character and the character and the chromogen character and the c

Tonsil follicles were utilized as a positive control for Sirt1. The First-trimester placenta was utilized as a positive control for the staining of RXR. Positive cells presented a brownish color, while the negative control and unstained cells showed blue. Negative controls were conducted with the same control tissues.

Under light microscopy, a semi-quantitative immune-reactivity-score (IRS score) was utilized as analysis: intensity of the staining was multiplied with the percentage range of positive stained cells.

Score	Grades	Percentage range of positive stained cells
0	No staining	No staining
1	Weak staining	1-10%
2	Moderate staining	11–50%
3	Strong staining	51–80%
4	Null	81-100%

#### Immune-reactivity-score

#### 6.5 Cell culture

Human ovarian cancer cell lines A2780, UWB1.289 and A2780cis were chosen for our study as model cells. A2780 (serous) and UWB1.289 (mucinous) were cultured with RPMI 1640+10% fetal bovine serum, while A2780cis were cultivated from with RPMI 1640 + 10% FBS + 1  $\mu$ M Carboplatin for the anti-chemical cell. All cell lines were sowed into 96-well plates for MTT and BrdU as well as 6-well plates for Western blot. After 20 hours incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, the cell culture medium was changed with fresh RPMI 1640 with resveratrol for the remaining 24 hours. The dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, 0.5%) always worked as our vehicle control.

#### 6.6 ELISAs

#### 6.6.1 Cell viability assay

The three ovarian cancer cell lines were sowed at the density of  $1.5 \times 10^4$  cells per well in 96-well plates with medium (RPMI1640 + 10% FBS). Then these plates were put into an incubator at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 20 hours later, 50µM and 100µM of resveratrol were treated. All the cells were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. Untreated cells were plated in RPMI1640. The dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, 0.5%) worked as vehicle control. To observe the viability of cells, 20µg MTT was treated to the plates for 1.5 hours at 37 °C incubator. Subsequently, removing MTT from the plates thoroughly, 200µL DMSO was added to each well. By using Elx800 universal

Microplate Reader, the optical density was checked at 595 nm. Each experiment was carried out in triplicate.

#### 6.6.2 Marker of proliferation: BrdU

A2780, UWB1.289 and A2780cis ovarian cancer cells were cultured on 96-well plates with 50  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M dose of resveratrol. Cell density is 1.0 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well. To mark the DNA replication of these cells, we added BrdU in a medium (RPMI1640 without FBS + Resveratrol) at 37 °C incubator for 2 hours. The final dose of BrdU was 10  $\mu$ M. After removing BrdU and adding, 200 $\mu$ l per well FixDenat incubation of cells took place for 30 minutes at room temperature. Subsequently, the FixDenat solution was eliminated and 100 $\mu$ l per well anti-BrdU-POD working solution was performed. After incubation for 1.5 hours at room temperature, wells were washed 3 times completely with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). 100 $\mu$ /well substrate solution BrdU was implemented and 37°C CO<sub>2</sub> incubation for 20 minutes was performed. 25 $\mu$ l of 1M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added to each well. Finally, the absorbance of the samples was estimated at 450nm by an ELISA reader.

#### 6.7 Apoptosis assay

#### 6.7.1 M30 staining

Caspase-cleaved cytokeratin 18 was utilized to detect apoptosis. All the ovarian cancer cells (A2780, UWB1.289 and A2780cis) were sowed on 96-well plates at a

density of  $1.0 \times 10^4$  cells/well. After cultivated for 20 hours, M30 CytoDeath (1:1000 dilution) was utilized to detect the apoptotic death cells. Stimulated cells with resveratrol (50µM and 100µM) were put in the incubator at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. The dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, 0.5%) worked as our vehicle control. Added 20µl of MTT into each well. Putting the plates on the shaker for 5 minutes to intensive mixing. Afterwards, the plates with MTT were in an incubator at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 1.5 hours. After removing the supernatant from plates, added DMSO 200µl/well in the plates and intensive mixing it for 5 minutes. By using Elx800 universal Microplate Reader, the optical density measured the absorbance of cells at 595nm. Each experiment was carried out 5 times.

#### 6.7.2 TUNEL

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) deoxyuridine triphosphate (dUTP) Nick-End Labeling (TUNEL) assay was used to measure and estimate apoptotic death cells which are undergoing extensive DNA degradation during apoptosis. TUNEL assay is an acceptable and reliable assay for establishing apoptosis in situ. The main procedure included permeabilizing, binding of labeled dUTPs onto the fragmented DNA using TdT, and detecting the labeled dUTPs. TUNEL staining was performed to assess in situ DNA fragmentation using FragEL<sup>™</sup> DNA Fragmentation Detection Kit. The procedure as follows:

1. Fixation

The specimen was fixed with methanol, then washed with TBS once only.

2.Permeabilization

2 mg/ml Proteinase K (1:100) were diluted in 10 mM Tris pH 8 (mixed 1  $\mu$ l of 2 mg/ml Proteinase K + 99  $\mu$ l 10 mM Tris per specimen). The specimen was immersed with 100  $\mu$ l of 20  $\mu$ g/ml proteinase K. Subsequently, these specimens were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The slide was washed three times with TBS. Next, the specimen was immersed with 3 % hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 5 minutes for inactivation of endogenous peroxidase. The slide was washed three times with TBS.

3.Equilibration + labeling reaction

The entire specimen was immersed with 100  $\mu$ l of 1X TdT Equilibration Buffer (20  $\mu$ l 5X Buffer + 80  $\mu$ l dH2O per specimen). Then the specimen was incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes. After removing the 1X TdT Equilibration Buffer, 60  $\mu$ l of TdT Labeling Reaction Mixture (57  $\mu$ l TdT Labeling Reaction Mix + 3  $\mu$ l TdT Enzyme) was immediately applied onto the specimen and incubated for 1.5 hours at 37 °C. The specimen was washed three times with TBS.

4. Termination of the labeling reaction

The Stop Buffer should be prewarmed at 37°C for 5 minutes if there were precipitates presented. The entire specimen was soaked with 100 µl stop solution for 5 minutes at room temperature. Then washed the slides only once with TBS. Notice: the buffer was carefully removed and the glass slide around the specimen was dried.

#### 5. Detection

The entire specimen was blocked with 100  $\mu$ l of Blocking Buffer and was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. After removing the Blocking Buffer, 100  $\mu$ l of the 1X conjugate (2  $\mu$ l 50X Conjugate + 98  $\mu$ l Blocking Buffer) was applied to each specimen. All the slides were put into a humidified chamber and were incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Before finishing incubation, DAB solution was prepared (dissolved one tablet of DAB + one tablet of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/Urea in 1 ml of TAP/FAUCET H<sub>2</sub>O). Then the slide was washed one time with TBS and gently removed superfluous liquid around the specimen. The entire specimen was soaked with 100  $\mu$ l of DAB solution and was incubated at room temperature for 10-15 minutes. The specimen was washed once with dH<sub>2</sub>O.

The entire specimen was immediately soaked with 100  $\mu$ l of methyl green counterstain solution and was incubated at room temperature for only 3 minutes. After removing the unnecessary counterstain, the specimen was placed in a Coplin jar slide holder. Subsequently, the specimen was dipped into 100% ethanol 2-4 times. The

specimen was blotted briefly on an absorbent paper. Then the previous step was repeated, and the specimen was dipped into 100% fresh ethanol 2-4 times. The specimen was blotted briefly on an absorbent paper. For the next step, the specimen was dipped 2-4 times into xylene. Removed redundant xylene carefully from the specimen. Finally, a glass coverslip was covered on the specimen with mounting media. Each experiment was carried out 5 times.

Under light microscopy, apoptosis cells showed a brownish color, while the normal cells and unstained cells presented blue.

#### 6.8 Western blotting

Cultured cells (A2780, A2780cis, and UWB1.289 cells) were lysed with radio-immuno-precipitation assay buffer and protease inhibitors on ice. The lysate was centrifuged at 13 000 × g for 15 minutes in 4°C to collect the soluble fraction and supernatant. 20 µg of cell lysates per well were prepared. The lysates were separated in 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Subsequently, they were transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane. This membrane was blocked in 10% casein. Finally, incubation with the primary antibodies anti-SIRT1 (rabbit,1:1000) and anti-RXR (rabbit,1:1000) took place for 16 h at 4°C overnight. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), an enzyme of 37kDa, was utilized as a housekeeping gene. Mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH antibody was

diluted (1:1000) in 10% Casein for 16 hours in 4°C overnight. Afterwards, the membrane was thoroughly washed three times by casein. Next, incubation of the membrane with the goat-anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:1000) was performed for 45 minutes at room temperature. Subsequently, removed the rest secondary antibody from the membrane, reaction with Vectastain ABC-AmP Reagent for 20 minutes was the next step. The membrane was conjugated with alkaline phosphatase and checked with 5-bromo-4-chloro-3'-indolylphosphate/nitro-blue tetrazolium (BCIP/NBT)-chromogen substrate solution. By using the GelScan V6.0 1D Analysis Software, the western blots were scanned and measured. The band intensities of SIRT1 and RXR were normalized with band intensities of GAPDH. The western blots experiments were repeated three times.

#### 6.9 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 25.0 software. For the clinical data and pathological data were presented as the median  $\pm$  SD, independent T test was used to clinical and pathological data between related groups. Survival rates were determined using the Kaplan-Meier curves. Spearman's test was utilized to compare the IRS scores of SIRT1 and RXR staining in ovarian cancer patients. Data were collected as the means  $\pm$  SEM from at least 3 independent experiments. Wilcoxon test was utilized for the evaluation of SIRT1 and RXR expression between related groups. *P-value <0.05* was considered to be statistically significant.

### 7. Results

**7.1 Correlation of RXR and SIRT1 expression with clinical and pathological data** We obtained 123 cases to analyze SIRT1 and RXR expression in ovarian cancer (110 serous and 13 mucinous) (**table 1**) aged between 20 and 88 years. SIRT1 staining is detected in the cytoplasm and nucleus (**table 2**). 115 (93.5%) cases showed co-staining of SIRT1 in the cytoplasm and nucleus, while in 8 cases (6.5%) SIRT1 expression was detected neither in cytoplasm nor in nucleus. In among cases of the examined subcategories (serous, high grade, low grade, and different FIGO stages; **table 2**; **figure 5 A-D**) the median IRS of SIRT1 expression was 4 in the nucleus and cytoplasm, respectively. No significant differences were found about histological subtype (p=0.915), FIGO stage (p=0.568) or grading (p=0.147 and 0.585) in cytoplasmic as well as in nuclear expression (histology: p=0.639; FIGO: p=0.408; grading: p=0.475 and 0.699) (**table 2**). In cytoplasm, high level of SIRT1 (IRS≥4) were observed in 61.0% (75 cases) and low level of SIRT1 (IRS<4) were detected in 39.0% (48 cases). In contrast, in the nucleus, 66.7% of the samples showed a high level of SIRT1 (IRS≥4; 82 cases compared to 33.3 % with a low level (IRS<4); 41 cases).

Regarding RXR staining, 114 cases of ovarian cancer showed RXR expression (see **table 2**) while 4 cases did not have any RXR staining, and 5 cases could not be evaluated. Among the 114 cases, the median IRS was two. 44 cases (35.7%) were identified with a high level of RXR (IRS  $\geq$ 3) while 74 cases were identified with a low RXR level (IRS<3). The median IRS in serous specimens was 2 (p=0.816) while in mucinous carcinomas it was 4 and 3.5 (p=0.690; **table 2**; **figure 5 E-G**). No significant differences were found regarding FIGO stage (p=0.405) or grading (p=0.816 and 0.690). A significant positive correlation was identified (p=0.006; **table 3**) between co-expression nuclear SIRT1 and RXR in IRS staining.

Table 1. Patients' characteristics.

	N	%
Subtype		
Serous	110	89.4
Low-grade	24	19.5
High-grade	80	65.0
NA's	6	4.9
Mucinous	13	10.6
Grade G1	6	4.9
Grade G2	6	4.9
Grade G3	0	0
NA's	1	0.8
Age		
≥60	61	49.6
<60	62	50.4
FIGO		
1/11	29	23.6
III/IV	92	74.8
NA's	2	1.6
Progression (18 years)		
No progression	101	82.1
Progression	21	17.1
NA's	1	0.1
Survival (18 years)		
Right censured	38	30.1
Died	84	68.3
NA's	1	0.1

# Table 2. Expression profile of RXR and SIRT1 staining regarding clinical and pathological characteristics

	SIRT1 cytoplasm		SIRT1 nucleus		RXR Nucleus	
	Median	р	Median	р	Median	р
	(+/- 30)		(+/- 30)		(+/- 30)	
Histology		0.915		0.639		0.424
serous	4 (+/- 1.94)		4 (+/- 1.81)		2 (+/- 0.15)	
mucinous	4 (+/- 3.23)		4 (+/- 2.39)		3,5 (+/- 0.50)	
FIGO		0.568		0.408		0.405
1/11	4 (+/- 2.43)		4 (+/- 1.78)		2 (+/- 1.48)	
III/IV	4 (+/- 1.98)		4 (+/- 1.91)		2 (+/- 1.55)	
Grading						
serous		0.147		0.475		0.816
Low grade	4(+/-0.34)		4(+/-0.38)		2(+/- 0.35)	
High grade	4(+/-0.24)		4(+/-0.22)		2(+/-0.17)	
mucinous	, ,	0.585	, ,	0.699	, ,	0.690
G1	6(+/-2.04)		4(+/-1.36)		4(+/-0.87)	
G2	3.5(+/-0.96)		4(+/-0.91)		3.5(+/-0.52)	
G3	0		0		0	

# Table 3. Spearmann's Correlation analysis between SIRT 1 and RXR.

	SIRT1nucleus	SIRT1cytoplasm
RXR-α		
Correlation coefficient	-0.259	-0.163
р	0.006	0.085

Covariate	Coefficient (Bi)	Exp(B)			p-value
			95%CI		-
			Lower	Upper	
Subtype	0.109	1.115	0.642	1.937	0.699
FIGO(I/II vs. III/IV)	1.327	3.771	1.956	7.271	0.000
Grade	-0.604	0.547	0.355	0.843	0.006
Age (<60 vs. ≥60 years)	0.359	1.432	0.944	2.170	0.091
SIRT1cytoplasm	0.004	1.004	0.868	1.161	0.959
SIRT1nucleus	0.035	0.965	0.821	1.135	0.670
RXR nucleus	-0.096	0.908	0.908	1.057	0.213

#### Table 4. Multivariate analysis

\* FIGO (Federation International of Gynecology and Obstetrics) Grade (Low grade vs. High grade)

No significance has been found regarding the prognostic outcome of

SIRT1-cytoplasm (p=0.959), SIRT1-nucleus (p=0.670), and RXR-nucleus (p=0.213)

#### alone (table 4).

As shown in the Kaplan-Meier curve (figure 6), co-expression of SIRT1and

RXR-nucleus were related with better outcome in overall survival rates and longer

survival time in the late stage of ovarian cancer patients (FIGO III/IV). This was

detected for both, cytoplasmic SIRT1 expression (p= 0.026; figure 6A) and nuclear

SIRT1 expression (p=0.041; figure 6B).









serous

mucinous



**Figure 5.** Representative images of SIRT1 and RXR (immunohistochemistry) of ovarian cancer samples. **A**: SIRT1 expression in serous ovarian cancer on a TMA with a 2.5 and 10x magnification. **B**: SIRT1 expression in mucinous ovarian cancer on a TMA with a 2.5 and 10x magnification. **C and D**: boxplot; SIRT1 expression with a median IRS of 4 in mucinous and serous ovarian carcinoma on TMA. **E**: RXR expression in serous ovarian cancer on slide with a 10 and 25x magnification. **F**: RXR expression in mucinous ovarian cancer on slide with a 10 and 25x magnification. **G**: boxplot; RXR expression with a median IRS of 2 and 3 in mucinous and serous ovarian carcinoma on slides.



**Figure 6.** Cytoplasmic SIRT1 expression and overall survival (A; p=0.026) versus overall survival in patients with nuclear RXR-expression (B; p=0.041).

#### 7. 2 Correlation of RXR and SIRT1 expression with laboratory data

All cell-lines (A2780, A2780cis, and UWB1.289) were treated with resveratrol for 24 hours. The MTT assay results revealed that the viability of all cell-lines declined dose-dependent (**figure 7**). Cell apoptosis was measured by BrdU, M30, and TUNEL. The cell apoptosis detected by BrdU ELISA showed that in cells treated with 100 $\mu$ M resveratrol, the apoptotic characteristics were significantly improved (**figure 8**, p<0.003). Besides, cell morphology observations showed that in cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M resveratrol, apoptosis markers (brown cytoplasm, marked by M30) were significantly higher (**figure 9**; p<0.05). After resveratrol treatment, the percentage of TUNEL stained cells decreased, which means that the rate of apoptosis increased (**figure 10**; p=0.043).



**Figure 7**. Cytotoxicity of resveratrol in ovarian cancer cells. Cell-lines were treated with resveratrol in different concentrations (0 to 100 $\mu$ M) for 24 hours. MTT assay for cell viability. **A**: A2780 (\*A2780 control vs. RSV 40 $\mu$ M p=0.0032; \*\*A2780 control vs RSV 60 $\mu$ M p=0.002; \*\*\* A2780 control vs. RSV 80 $\mu$ M p=0.0004; \*\*\*\*A2780 control vs. RSV 100 $\mu$ M p<0.0001), **B**: A2780cis (\*A2780cis control vs RSV 80 $\mu$ M/RSV 100 $\mu$ M p<0.0001) and **C**: UWB1.289 (\*UWB1.289 control vs. RSV 20 $\mu$ M p=0.0326; \*\*UWB1.289 control vs. RSV 40 $\mu$ M p=0.0013; \*\*\*\*UWB1.289 control vs. RSV 50/60/80/100 $\mu$ M p<0.0001). The data are graphed as the means ± SEM. N=3. \*p < 0.05.



**Figure 8.** Cell apoptosis measured by BrdU. Cell-lines were seeded onto 96-well plates at a density of  $1.0 \times 10^4$  cells per well. The cells were treated with resveratrol (50µM and 100 µM) for 24 hours and BrdU (final concentration is 10µM) was added of the treatment. BrdU in corporation was determined by measuring at the absorbance at 450nm. **A**: A2780 (\*\*A2780 control vs. RSV 50µM p=0.0019; \*\*\*A2780 control vs. RSV 100µM p=0.003); **B**: A2780cis (\*\*A2780cis control vs. RSV 50/100µM p<0.0001); **C**: UWB1.289 (\*\*\*UWB1.289 control vs. RSV 50µM p=0.0007; \*\*\*UWB1.289 control vs. RSV 100µM p=0.0003). Representative results are graphed as the means ± SEM. (N=3) \*p < 0.05.



**Figure 9.** Effect of RSV-treatment and M30 identification on A2780 (**A-C**), A2780cis (**D-F**) and UWB1.289 (**G-I**) cells with 50  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M resveratrol for 24 hours. (N=5). Apoptosis rates in dependent of RSV concentration are shown in a boxplot (**J**). The data are presented as means ± SEM. \*p < 0.05.



**Figure 10.** Apoptosis of A2780 (**A-C**), A2780cis (**D-F**) and UWB1.289 (**G-I**) by TUNEL assay. All images are at 2.5× magnification with an insert at 10× magnification. Apoptosis rates in dependence of RSV concentration are shown in a boxplot (**J**). The experiments results are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. (N=5) \*p= 0.043.

#### 7.3 The interaction between SIRT1 and RXR

All the cell lysates were collected and analyzed by Western blotting with primary antibodies against SIRT1 and RXR. As shown in the western blot results (**figure 11G**), resveratrol (100µM) treatment in A2780 cells contribute to a significant decrease of the expression of SIRT1 (p=0.208 and 0.025 **figure 11A**). No significant change in SIRT1 expression was observed when A2780cis (p=0.327 and 0.069 **figure 11B**) and UWB1.289 (p=0.401 and 0.575 **figure 11C**) were treated with resveratrol. Compared to the control, RXR protein levels increased dramatically after A2780cis cells were treated for 24 hours with resveratrol 50µM and 100µM (p =0.012 and 0.017 **figure 11E**). After treatment with resveratrol 50µM or 100µM for 24 hours, the expression of RXR in A2780 (p=0.208 and 0.069) and UWB1.289 (p=0.093 and 0.069) fails to reach conventional levels of statistical significance (**figure 11D and 11F**).



**Figure 11.** Ovarian cancer cells were treated with RSV 50 $\mu$ M and RSV 100 $\mu$ M for 24 hours. Expression of SIRT1 in A2780 cells (**A**), A2780cis (**B**) and UWB1.289 (**C**) cell-lines. RXR-expression in A2780 (**D**), A2780cis (**E**) and UWB1.289 (**F**) cell-lines after RSV treatment. Finally, expressions were analyzed by western blotting (**G**). Representative results are expressed as the means ± SEM. \**p*< 0.05.

## 8. Discussion

#### 8.1 Comprehensive summary of the results

Ovarian cancer is the third common gynecologic cancer after cervical and uterine cancer in women globally. Until now, the incidence rates and mortality rates of ovarian cancer remain high [229]. So far, the function of SIRT1 in ovarian cancer remains controversial. Both the treatment of ovarian cancer and the prognosis of platinum-resistant patients need to be improved and enhanced.

In the current study, we reported that the protein level of nuclear RXR and SIRT1 in advanced ovarian cancer was associated with significantly longer overall survival after diagnosis. In this study, resveratrol, a polyphenol, could reduce the growth and increase the apoptosis of ovarian cancer cell lines according to the results of BrdU, M30, and TUNEL. Resveratrol ( $100\mu$ M, 24h) increased the level of RXR in anti-chemo cell A2780cis while decreased the expression of SIRT1 in A2780.

Most scientists believe that SIRT1 shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm; however, live-cell imaging shows that SIRT1 is localized predominantly in cellular nucleus. Furthermore, Sun and his colleagues demonstrated that the absence of cytoplasmic macromolecular crowding effect and hypotonic dwelling make SIRT1 in the nucleus leak into the cytoplasm [7]. This suggests that SIRT1 in the cytoplasm can be released from the nucleus. Our immunohistological results show that SIRT1 is localized both in the nucleus and cytoplasm. We support Sun's viewpoint because the experimental step of immunohistochemistry may allow SIRT1 to leak from the nucleus into the cytoplasm. However, we cannot assert that SIRT1 is present only in the nucleus and we cannot exclude the possibility of some uncovered new principles regarding the subcellular localization of SIRT1.

# 8.2 Resveratrol partially inhibited proliferation and induced apoptosis in ovarian cancer cell

Resveratrol is a compound that directly activates the antioxidant properties of SIRT1, and the antitumor effect of this compound restrains cell proliferation and induces apoptotic death in cancer cells. Numerous studies have demonstrated that resveratrol has the effect of inhibiting cell growth and proliferation, and even increasing apoptosis in various types of cancer cells. For example, resveratrol enhanced the efficacy of chemosensitivity and prevented cancer aggressiveness [230]. Alternatively, resveratrol induced apoptotic death in ovarian cancer cells [231,232]. Similarly, the current experimental results support that resveratrol prevents cell proliferation and causes ovarian cancer cell apoptotic death, suggesting an antitumor effect of resveratrol during the progression of ovarian cancer. However, a recent study has shown that resveratrol can effectively inhibit ovarian cancer cells in vitro, while such inhibition could not be observed for ovarian cancer cells in vivo [233]. Considering the different experimental settings in vivo and in vitro, numerous experiments and researches should be implemented to clarify the effect of resveratrol on ovarian cancer.

Resveratrol effectively affects multiple signaling pathways, thereby inhibiting cancer cell proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, and even inducing apoptosis. These biological properties of cells can be achieved by regulating various signaling pathways and proteins associated with SIRT1. Evidence suggests that resveratrol inhibits ovarian cancer and various proteins in a SIRT1-dependent manner. Resveratrol enhances antitumor drug sensitivity by preventing epithelial-mesenchymal transition and regulating the SIRT1- $\beta$ -catenin axis and its downstream factors in cancer [197]. Resveratrol regulates cancer cell growth, proliferation, and protein translation by

acting SIRT1-mediated AMPK signaling [234]. RXR binds to PGC-1 $\alpha$  and SIRT1, activates oxidative metabolic genes, and ultimately determines mitochondria-triggered cell death [235]. However, in the current experiments, we did not find a clear link between RXR and SIRT1, and further experiments are needed to confirm the relationship between them.

Ohshiro et al. reported that in lung cancer cells treated with 100µM resveratrol 24 h inhibited cell growth and caused apoptosis [236]. In the current study, we utilized the same dose (100µM) and duration (24 h) to treat ovarian cancer cells. Our results were consistent with that of Ohshiro's work. We confirm that resveratrol prevented ovarian cancer cell growth and induced apoptosis. It maybe refers to the increasing of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by resveratrol. Additionally, one study has also shown that resveratrol can promote ROS over-production (2-3 times), which can cause cell death [237]. Compared with our study (50-100µM, 24 hours), cancer cells exposed to a higher dose (200µM-500µM) and a longer duration (48 hours) maybe have more stress on cell behavior.

Ovarian cancer was classified into four subtypes by histopathological examination, including serous, clear cell, endometrioid, and mucinous. We choose mucinous and serous cell lines in our experiment. In the study, we observed that the ovarian cancer cell lines either A2780 or UWB1.289 have different anti-drug resistance. A2780 cell line was more resistant to platin compared with UWB1.289 cells, and this result was consistent with previous study. Based on the data of the apoptosis assay, we concluded that the mucinous cell line (A2780) appeared to be more sensitive when treated with resveratrol compared to the serous cell line (UWB1.289). This may be since the fact that mucinous cells grow faster than serous cells. In addition, the

apoptosis rate was much higher for A2780cis than for A2780. For resveratrol, the effect of apoptosis seems to be synergistic to cisplatin [238].

# 8.3 Resveratrol did not decrease SIRT1 expression in carboplatin-resistant cell lines.

SIRT1 facilitates ovarian cancer cells' invasiveness and chemoresistance. This protein represents a poor outcome of advanced ovarian carcinoma as well [239-241]. Besides, SIRT1 is an important subcellular target of resveratrol. So, we chose SIRT1 to study the influence of resveratrol in the ovarian cancer cell. Stimulation with resveratrol is associated with a lower SIRT1 level in the mucinous ovarian cancer cell line (A2780), while no significant difference was found in anti-drug mucinous ovarian cancer cell lines (A2780cis). Pizarro confirmed that the reduction of SIRT1 stimulated by resveratrol was not related to apoptosis [242]. In addition, Bjorklund's work proved that the treatment of 40µM resveratrol induced potentiation of platinum for ovarian cancer not connected to the SIRT1 expression [243]. Our results were inconsistent with these findings. In this study, we stimulated ovarian cancer cells with a higher resveratrol dose (100µM). However, these findings cannot explain why resveratrol does not lower SIRT1 expression in chemical-resistant cell lines (A2780cis). Considering the poor survival rates of patients, further study should be expected. Li and his group found out that breast cancer type 1 (BRCA1) inactivation decreased SIRT1 levels in ovarian cancer [244]. Recent studies further demonstrated that BRCA1 mutant mice tumor has decreased level of SIRT1 [245]. Our results were

inconsistent with these findings. In our study, the expression of SIRT1 did not significantly change when UWB1.289 was exposed to resveratrol. It may be one reason that BRCA1-null is in these serous ovarian cancer lines and that it is not sensitive to resveratrol. The other reason is that UWB1.289 cells are less proliferation

compared with A2780 cells. The doubling time of UWB1.289 is 36 hours compare to that of A2780 18 hours.

As an essential factor located in the nucleus, SIRT1 affects many nuclear factors and proteins. For example, SIRT1 deacetylates vitamin D receptor (VDR) [225] and bonds PPARα [246,247]. Meanwhile, RXR dimerized VDR [248,249]. RXR acts as a critical mediator in ovarian cancer growth suppression [250]. RXR expression declines during the progression of epithelial ovarian cancer [251]. Recent studies have proved that resveratrol could either bind to RXR or can modulate RXR dimerization [252]. Retinoid X Receptor (RXR)-α-dependent mechanisms could restrain proliferation and induce apoptosis [253]. The "rexinoid apoptosis" participates in the activation of both inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and eNOS by RXR-PPARγ. Consequently, plenty of apoptotic NO contributes to cell apoptosis [254]. In addition, the activation of PPARγ and the formation of heterodimers with retinoid X receptors (RXRs) generate the anti-tumor effect of cancer [255]. In the current study, we evaluated resveratrol-stimulated repression of apoptosis of the ovarian cancer cells. Our results suggest that RXRα plays an indispensable role in the regulation of apoptotic cell death in human ovarian cancer.

Oka and his group found that SIRT1 competes with RXRα to dimerize with PPARα [246] and other proteins, and then influences cellular metabolism. Our results are consistent with this study. In the present study, co-expression of both RXR and SIRT1 is closely related to better a clinical outcome and survival rate in advanced stages of ovarian cancer. Either SIRT1 or RXR is related to poor outcome and bad prognosis in ovarian cancer, while the interaction of these two proteins can ameliorate the poor outcome.

Together with the results of our studies on ovarian cancer cells, previous reports suggest that resveratrol can be a promising chemical even clinically utilized in the treatment of anti-drug ovarian cancer. However, these findings should be confirmed in plenty of specimens and experiments. Altogether, further studies are warranted to understand the mechanism behind resveratrol and its role in the anti-cancer effect in combination with platinum.

#### 8.4 The mechanisms inducing apoptosis of mucinous and serous

Several lines of evidence suggest that resveratrol has a suppressive effect on ovarian cancer cells and that various signaling pathways are involved in this inhibitory effect. Recently more studies started to investigate the anti-tumor effect of resveratrol. Recently, Kueck's group proved that resveratrol makes an anti-tumor effect through inhibiting glucose metabolism in human ovarian cancer cells [256]. Resveratrol inhibits cellular mitochondrial respiration, even in cancer cells. The cytotoxic effects of resveratrol on cancer cells are regulated by SIRT1 and also inhibited mitochondrial complex I inhibition [257]. In vitro, SIRT1 deacetylated kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) to activate Claudin-5. By this, it suppressed metastasis and invasion of ovarian cancer cells [260]. A high level of SIRT1 effectively inhibited high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) acetylation, therefore inhibiting ovarian cancer migration, invasion, and angiogenesis [261]. Resveratrol inhibited IL-6-induced metastasis of ovarian cancer cells [258]. The apoptotic effect of resveratrol on ovarian cancer cells may be related to the suppression of galectin-3 and stimulation of microRNA transcription [259].

The results show that serous cancer cells treated with resveratrol does not affect the expression of SIRT1 and RXR at the protein expression level, we can see apoptosis from the results of our experiments, though. SIRT1 could not responsible for resveratrol-induced cancer cell death. Therefore, we suppose that resveratrol induces

the apoptosis of serous cancer cells maybe not be explained by SIRT1 and RXR. These data show that the mechanisms inducing apoptosis of mucinous are different from those causing apoptosis of serous. Our findings are consistent with other studies showing the different effects of resveratrol on induction of apoptotic death relying on the kinds and species of human cancer cells [260]. The pharmacologic and pharmacokinetic characteristic of resveratrol has been studied in detail in numerous aspect [230,231,256,258], however, we cannot exclude the possibility that some unrevealed inhibition effects of resveratrol may increase apoptosis. In general, further studies aiming at understanding the mechanism of the anti-cancer effect of resveratrol are required.

One shortcoming of our study is, that the samples and its data are based on classifications between 1990 and 2002. Additionally, the majority of all included patients suffered from ovarian cancer in an advanced stage. More studies about ovarian cancer should be performed for the next step.

Ovarian cancer is a kind of malignant tumor in gynecology with a high mortality rate. 80% of patients are diagnosed as advanced (i e: FIGO stage III~IV); the chance of relapse is 70% within 2 years after the initial treatment, 70% of patients will die within 5 years [261]. This results from the asymptomatic and delayed onset of symptoms as well as from a lack of proper screening. Age, family history, high level of hormones, inflammation in the ovary, unhealthy lifestyle such as alcohol, caffeine, and cigarette intake lead to the incidence of ovarian cancer [262]. The 5-year survival rate of ovarian cancer has not been significantly improved globally in recent years, still hovering between 30% and 40%. Although widely used of oral contraceptives and the decline in menopausal hormone supplementation [263,264]. Cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy are the mainstream clinical treatment and therapy for this

malignant tumor. And chemotherapy is still the essential treatment of ovarian cancer in clinical management. One important future direction of ovarian cancer is a combination therapy. This therapeutics consists of traditional chemotherapy drugs with natural compounds. Furthermore, it has been reported that combination therapies are beneficial in the treatment of cancer. On the one hand, these new therapeutics help to aim at more signaling pathways participated in tumor development and treatment, and on the other hand, they can limit and reduce the toxic effects of chemotherapeutic drugs on the patient [265]. In addition, molecular targeted therapy is currently mainly used for the treatment of relapsed patients, and immunotherapy in cancer still needs more research. In addition, plenty of clinical trials that immunotherapy, bevacizumab, and inhibitor combination therapies are under the supervision of several organizations. From bench to bedside is still a long journey for the treatment of ovarian cancer. In a word, numerous therapies emerging predict that the treatment of ovarian cancer has been entering a new era.



**Figure 12.** SIRT1 in ovarian cancer.  $\rightarrow$  , positive regulation;  $\rightarrow$  , negative regulation. BRCA1, Breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein; ER $\beta$ , Estrogen receptor beta; HMGB1, High mobility group box 1 protein; HIF1 $\alpha$ , Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alph; H2O2, Hydrogen peroxide; KLF4, Kruppel-like factor 4; NAD, Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; Nrf2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; SIRT1, sirtuin1; TWIST1, Twist-related protein 1.

#### 8.5 Conclusion

In summary, this study provides evidence that the combination of nuclear RXRα and SIRT1 expression is connected to better overall survival rates for advanced ovarian cancer. Resveratrol induces apoptosis and reduces the proliferation of human ovarian cancer cell lines, which is closely connected to the decreased expression of SIRT1 in mucinous ovarian cancer and the increased expression of RXR in mucinous and carboplatin-resistant ovarian cancer cells. New strategies should be developed to improve the understanding of resistance mechanisms and to improve drug treatment. Undoubtedly, new research for the effective treatment of ovarian cancer is needed.

# 9. Summary

SIRT1 has been the popular subject of the scientific research field since its detection in 1990. The function of this protein varies greatly depending on the tissue. Recent studies focused on SIRT1, especially in tumors. SIRT1 has been revealed to modulate cancer cell growth, metastasis, and invasion in numerous tumors. However, SIRT1 has been barely studied in gynecological tumors.

The purpose of our study was to evaluate the effect of SIRT1 on ovarian cancer. First, we analyzed the relationship between the intensity of SIRT1 and RXR-alpha staining and clinical prognosis in ovarian cancer by immunohistochemistry. To further study the therapeutic effects of SIRT1 activator Resveratrol, we used MTT, M30, BrdU, and other methods to test the function of resveratrol on ovarian cancer cell lines A2780, UWB1, 289, and A2780cis, including proliferation and apoptosis. Finally, the relationship between RXR-alpha and SIRT1 proteins in ovarian cancer treated with Resveratrol was studied by western blot.

Studies have shown that nuclear RXR-alpha and SIRT1-expression are significantly connected with better outcome and overall survival rates in advanced ovarian cancer. Resveratrol had a direct effect on ovarian cancer: it suppressed the growth and proliferation of ovarian cancer cells and even increased their apoptosis. At the protein level, resveratrol (100  $\mu$ M, 24h) up-regulated the expression of RXR-alpha in the anti-carboplatin cell line A2780cis and down-regulated the expression of SIRT1 in A2780. In conclusion, SIRT1 may have a suppressive role in ovarian cancer, especially in advanced ovarian cancer. In the recent years, the scientific interest of SIRT1 research has been increasingly applied to therapeutic applications, and there is a vision to use SIRT1 activators in the future: in the case of tumor diseases, for

tumor treatment. However, the influence and function of these proteins must be better understood. Thus, further studies are warranted.

### 10. Zusammenfassung

SIRT1 ist seit seiner Entdeckung im Jahr 1990 Gegenstand wissenschaftlicher Forschung. Die Funktion dieses Proteins variiert je nach Gewebe stark. Neuere Studien konzentrierten sich auf die Rolle von SIRT1 bei Tumoren. Es wurde gezeigt, dass SIRT1 die Proliferation, Migration und Invasion von Tumorzellen bei zahlreichen Krebsarten reguliert. In gynäkologischen Tumoren wurde SIRT1 bisher jedoch kaum untersucht.

Das Ziel unserer dieser Studie war es, die Wirkung von SIRT1 auf den Eierstockkrebs zu untersuchen. Zunächst analysierten wir retrospektiv die Beziehung zwischen der Intensität der SIRT1- und RXR-alpha-Färbung und der klinischen Prognose bei Eierstockkrebs durch immunhistochemische Methoden. Um die therapeutischen Wirkungen des SIRT1-Aktivators Resveratrol weiter zu untersuchen, verwendeten wir MTT, M30, Brdu und andere Methoden, um die Wirkungen von Resveratrol auf die Eierstockkrebs-Zelllinien A2780, UWB1, 289 und cis-A2780, einschließlich Proliferation und Apoptose, zu testen. Schließlich wurde die Beziehung zwischen RXR-alpha und SIRT1-Proteinen bei mit Resveratrol behandeltem Eierstockkrebs durch Western Blot analysiert.

Studien haben gezeigt, dass die nukleäre RXR-alpha und SIRT1-Expression signifikant mit besseren Gesamtüberlebensraten bei fortgeschrittenem Eierstockkrebs assoziiert waren. Resveratrol reduzierte die Proliferation von Eierstockkrebszellen und erhöhte deren Apoptose. Auf Proteinebene regulierte Resveratrol (100 µM, 24 h) die Expression von RXR-alpha in der Anti-Carboplatin-Zelllinie A2780cis hoch und regulierte die Expression von SIRT1 in A2780 herunter. Zusammenfassend kann SIRT1 eine supprimierende Rolle bei Eierstockkrebs spielen, insbesondere in fortgeschrittenen Stadien.

In den letzten Jahren wurde das wissenschaftliche Interesse der SIRT1-Forschung zunehmend auf therapeutische Anwendungen übertragen und es besteht die Vision, SIRT1-Aktivatoren in Zukunft zur Tumorbehandlung einzusetzen. Der Einfluss und die Funktion dieser Proteine müssen jedoch besser verstanden werden, daher sind weitere Studien erforderlich.

# 11. References

- Johnson, L.M.; Kayne, P.S.; Kahn, E.S.; Grunstein, M. Genetic evidence for an interaction between sir3 and histone h4 in the repression of the silent mating loci in saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1990, 87, 6286-6290.
- 2. Sinclair, D.A.; Guarente, L. Unlocking the secrets of longevity genes. Scientific American 2006, 294, 48-51, 54-47.
- Zhao, X.; Allison, D.; Condon, B.; Zhang, F.; Gheyi, T.; Zhang, A.; Ashok, S.; Russell, M.; MacEwan, I.; Qian, Y., et al. The 2.5 a crystal structure of the sirt1 catalytic domain bound to nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (nad+) and an indole (ex527 analogue) reveals a novel mechanism of histone deacetylase inhibition. Journal of medicinal chemistry 2013, 56, 963-969.
- Poljsak, B.; Milisav, I. Nad+ as the link between oxidative stress, inflammation, caloric restriction, exercise, DNA repair, longevity, and health span.
   Rejuvenation research 2016, 19, 406-415.
- Tanno, M.; Sakamoto, J.; Miura, T.; Shimamoto, K.; Horio, Y.
   Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the nad+-dependent histone deacetylase sirt1. The Journal of biological chemistry 2007, 282, 6823-6832.
- 6. North, B.J.; Verdin, E. Interphase nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling and localization of sirt2 during mitosis. Plos One 2007, 2, e784.
- 7. Sun, L.; Fang, J. Macromolecular crowding effect is critical for maintaining sirt1's nuclear localization in cancer cells. Cell cycle 2016, 15, 2647-2655.
- Braunstein, M.; Rose, A.B.; Holmes, S.G.; Allis, C.D.; Broach, J.R. Transcriptional silencing in yeast is associated with reduced nucleosome acetylation. Genes & development 1993, 7, 592-604.
- 9. Ma, K.; Lu, N.; Zou, F.; Meng, F.Z. Sirtuins as novel targets in the pathogenesis of airway inflammation in bronchial asthma. European journal of pharmacology 2019, 865, 172670.
- Alhazzazi, T.Y.; Kamarajan, P.; Verdin, E.; Kapila, Y.L. Sirt3 and cancer: Tumor promoter or suppressor? Biochimica et biophysica acta 2011, 1816, 80-88.

- 11. Shoba, B.; Lwin, Z.M.; Ling, L.S.; Bay, B.H.; Yip, G.W.; Kumar, S.D. Function of sirtuins in biological tissues. Anatomical record 2009, 292, 536-543.
- McBurney, M.W.; Clark-Knowles, K.V.; Caron, A.Z.; Gray, D.A. Sirt1 is a highly networked protein that mediates the adaptation to chronic physiological stress. Genes & cancer 2013, 4, 125-134.
- Vaziri, H.; Dessain, S.K.; Ng Eaton, E.; Imai, S.I.; Frye, R.A.; Pandita, T.K.; Guarente, L.; Weinberg, R.A. Hsir2(sirt1) functions as an nad-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell 2001, 107, 149-159.
- Kauppinen, A.; Suuronen, T.; Ojala, J.; Kaarniranta, K.; Salminen, A.
   Antagonistic crosstalk between nf-kappab and sirt1 in the regulation of inflammation and metabolic disorders. Cellular signalling 2013, 25, 1939-1948.
- Mazumder, S.; Plesca, D.; Kinter, M.; Almasan, A. Interaction of a cyclin e fragment with ku70 regulates bax-mediated apoptosis. Molecular and cellular biology 2007, 27, 3511-3520.
- Rodgers, J.T.; Lerin, C.; Haas, W.; Gygi, S.P.; Spiegelman, B.M.; Puigserver, P. Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of pgc-1alpha and sirt1. Nature 2005, 434, 113-118.
- Brunet, A.; Sweeney, L.B.; Sturgill, J.F.; Chua, K.F.; Greer, P.L.; Lin, Y.; Tran, H.; Ross, S.E.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Cohen, H.Y., et al. Stress-dependent regulation of foxo transcription factors by the sirt1 deacetylase. Science 2004, 303, 2011-2015.
- Yang, Y.; Hou, H.; Haller, E.M.; Nicosia, S.V.; Bai, W. Suppression of foxo1 activity by fhl2 through sirt1-mediated deacetylation. The EMBO journal 2005, 24, 1021-1032.
- 19. Lane, D.P. Cancer. P53, guardian of the genome. Nature 1992, 358, 15-16.
- van der Veer, E.; Ho, C.; O'Neil, C.; Barbosa, N.; Scott, R.; Cregan, S.P.; Pickering, J.G. Extension of human cell lifespan by nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase. The Journal of biological chemistry 2007, 282, 10841-10845.
- 21. Yuan, F.; Wang, J.; Li, R.; Zhao, X.; Zhang, Y.; Liu, B.; Lei, Y.; Hu, Y. A new regulatory mechanism between p53 and yap crosstalk by sirt1 mediated deacetylation to regulate cell cycle and apoptosis in a549 cell lines. Cancer management and research 2019, 11, 8619-8633.
- Gomes, B.A.Q.; Silva, J.P.B.; Romeiro, C.F.R.; Dos Santos, S.M.; Rodrigues, C.A.; Goncalves, P.R.; Sakai, J.T.; Mendes, P.F.S.; Varela, E.L.P.; Monteiro, M.C. Neuroprotective mechanisms of resveratrol in alzheimer's disease: Role of sirt1. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2018, 2018, 8152373.
- Nakamura, K.; Zhang, M.; Kageyama, S.; Ke, B.; Fujii, T.; Sosa, R.A.; Reed, E.F.; Datta, N.; Zarrinpar, A.; Busuttil, R.W., et al. Macrophage heme oxygenase-1-sirt1-p53 axis regulates sterile inflammation in liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. Journal of hepatology 2017, 67, 1232-1242.
- Yamakuchi, M.; Ferlito, M.; Lowenstein, C.J. Mir-34a repression of sirt1 regulates apoptosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008, 105, 13421-13426.
- 25. Tian, X.F.; Ji, F.J.; Zang, H.L.; Cao, H. Activation of the mir-34a/sirt1/p53 signaling pathway contributes to the progress of liver fibrosis via inducing apoptosis in hepatocytes but not in hscs. Plos One 2016, 11, e0158657.
- Zhang, Z.; Lin, J.; Nisar, M.; Chen, T.; Xu, T.; Zheng, G.; Wang, C.; Jin, H.; Chen, J.; Gao, W., et al. The sirt1/p53 axis in diabetic intervertebral disc degeneration pathogenesis and therapeutics. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2019, 2019, 7959573.
- Kang, Q.; Zhang, X.; Cao, N.; Chen, C.; Yi, J.; Hao, L.; Ji, Y.; Liu, X.; Lu, J. Egcg enhances cancer cells sensitivity under (60)cogamma radiation based on mir-34a/sirt1/p53. Food and chemical toxicology : an international journal published for the British Industrial Biological Research Association 2019, 133, 110807.
- 28. Ong, A.L.C.; Ramasamy, T.S. Role of sirtuin1-p53 regulatory axis in aging, cancer and cellular reprogramming. Ageing research reviews 2018, 43, 64-80.
- Yeung, F.; Hoberg, J.E.; Ramsey, C.S.; Keller, M.D.; Jones, D.R.; Frye, R.A.; Mayo, M.W. Modulation of nf-kappab-dependent transcription and cell survival by the sirt1 deacetylase. The EMBO journal 2004, 23, 2369-2380.
- Li, P.; Zhao, Y.; Wu, X.; Xia, M.; Fang, M.; Iwasaki, Y.; Sha, J.; Chen, Q.; Xu, Y.; Shen, A. Interferon gamma (ifn-gamma) disrupts energy expenditure and metabolic homeostasis by suppressing sirt1 transcription. Nucleic acids research 2012, 40, 1609-1620.

- Ruderman, N.B.; Xu, X.J.; Nelson, L.; Cacicedo, J.M.; Saha, A.K.; Lan, F.; Ido,
   Y. Ampk and sirt1: A long-standing partnership? American journal of
   physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism 2010, 298, E751-760.
- 32. Li, C.X.; Gao, J.G.; Wan, X.Y.; Chen, Y.; Xu, C.F.; Feng, Z.M.; Zeng, H.; Lin, Y.M.; Ma, H.; Xu, P., et al. Allyl isothiocyanate ameliorates lipid accumulation and inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease via the sirt1/ampk and nf-kappab signaling pathways. World journal of gastroenterology 2019, 25, 5120-5133.
- Li, X.; Jamal, M.; Guo, P.; Jin, Z.; Zheng, F.; Song, X.; Zhan, J.; Wu, H. Irisin alleviates pulmonary epithelial barrier dysfunction in sepsis-induced acute lung injury via activation of ampk/sirt1 pathways. Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie 2019, 118, 109363.
- 34. Liao, Z.; Zhang, J.; Wang, J.; Yan, T.; Xu, F.; Wu, B.; Xiao, F.; Bi, K.; Niu, J.; Jia, Y. The anti-nephritic activity of a polysaccharide from okra (abelmoschus esculentus (I.) moench) via modulation of ampk-sirt1-pgc-1alpha signaling axis mediated anti-oxidative in type 2 diabetes model mice. International journal of biological macromolecules 2019, 140, 568-576.
- 35. Shati, A.A. Resveratrol protects against cadmium chloride-induced hippocampal neurotoxicity by inhibiting er stress and gaad 153 and activating sirtuin 1/ampk/akt. Environmental toxicology 2019, 34, 1340-1353.
- Zhang, J.; Zhang, S.D.; Wang, P.; Guo, N.; Wang, W.; Yao, L.P.; Yang, Q.; Efferth, T.; Jiao, J.; Fu, Y.J. Pinolenic acid ameliorates oleic acid-induced lipogenesis and oxidative stress via ampk/sirt1 signaling pathway in hepg2 cells. European journal of pharmacology 2019, 861, 172618.
- 37. Tian, L.; Cao, W.; Yue, R.; Yuan, Y.; Guo, X.; Qin, D.; Xing, J.; Wang, X. Pretreatment with tilianin improves mitochondrial energy metabolism and oxidative stress in rats with myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury via ampk/sirt1/pgc-1 alpha signaling pathway. Journal of pharmacological sciences 2019, 139, 352-360.
- Price, N.L.; Gomes, A.P.; Ling, A.J.; Duarte, F.V.; Martin-Montalvo, A.; North, B.J.; Agarwal, B.; Ye, L.; Ramadori, G.; Teodoro, J.S., et al. Sirt1 is required for ampk activation and the beneficial effects of resveratrol on mitochondrial function. Cell metabolism 2012, 15, 675-690.

- Huang, J.; Wang, X.; Zhu, Y.; Li, Z.; Zhu, Y.T.; Wu, J.C.; Qin, Z.H.; Xiang, M.;
   Lin, F. Exercise activates lysosomal function in the brain through ampk-sirt1-tfeb pathway. CNS neuroscience & therapeutics 2019, 25, 796-807.
- 40. Wu, S.Y.; Liang, J.; Yang, B.C.; Leung, P.S. Sirt1 activation promotes beta-cell regeneration by activating endocrine progenitor cells via ampk signaling-mediated fatty acid oxidation. Stem cells 2019, 37, 1416-1428.
- Dziewulska, A.; Dobosz, A.M.; Dobrzyn, A.; Smolinska, A.; Kolczynska, K.; Ntambi, J.M.; Dobrzyn, P. Scd1 regulates the ampk/sirt1 pathway and histone acetylation through changes in adenine nucleotide metabolism in skeletal muscle. Journal of cellular physiology 2020, 235, 1129-1140.
- Park, S.J.; Ahmad, F.; Um, J.H.; Brown, A.L.; Xu, X.; Kang, H.; Ke, H.; Feng, X.; Ryall, J.; Philp, A., et al. Specific sirt1 activator-mediated improvement in glucose homeostasis requires sirt1-independent activation of ampk. EBioMedicine 2017, 18, 128-138.
- 43. Martinez-Redondo, V.; Pettersson, A.T.; Ruas, J.L. The hitchhiker's guide to pgc-1alpha isoform structure and biological functions. Diabetologia 2015, 58, 1969-1977.
- 44. Houtkooper, R.H.; Pirinen, E.; Auwerx, J. Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 2012, 13, 225-238.
- Gerhart-Hines, Z.; Rodgers, J.T.; Bare, O.; Lerin, C.; Kim, S.H.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Alt, F.W.; Wu, Z.; Puigserver, P. Metabolic control of muscle mitochondrial function and fatty acid oxidation through sirt1/pgc-1alpha. The EMBO journal 2007, 26, 1913-1923.
- 46. Canto, C.; Auwerx, J. Pgc-1alpha, sirt1 and ampk, an energy sensing network that controls energy expenditure. Current opinion in lipidology 2009, 20, 98-105.
- 47. Nemoto, S.; Fergusson, M.M.; Finkel, T. Sirt1 functionally interacts with the metabolic regulator and transcriptional coactivator pgc-1{alpha}. The Journal of biological chemistry 2005, 280, 16456-16460.
- 48. Tang, B.L. Sirt1 and the mitochondria. Molecules and cells 2016, 39, 87-95.
- 49. Bu, X.; Wu; Lu, X.; Yang, L.; Xu, X.; Wang, J.; Tang, J. Role of sirt1/pgc-1alpha in mitochondrial oxidative stress in autistic spectrum disorder. Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment 2017, 13, 1633-1645.

- 50. Basu, S. A complex interplay between pgc-1 co-activators and mtorc1 regulates hematopoietic recovery following 5-fluorouracil treatment. Stem Cell Res 2014, 12, 178-193.
- Curtil, C.; Enache, L.S.; Radreau, P.; Dron, A.G.; Scholtes, C.; Deloire, A.; Roche, D.; Lotteau, V.; Andre, P.; Ramiere, C. The metabolic sensors fxralpha, pgc-1alpha, and sirt1 cooperatively regulate hepatitis b virus transcription.
   FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 2014, 28, 1454-1463.
- 52. Patti, M.E.; Butte, A.J.; Crunkhorn, S.; Cusi, K.; Berria, R.; Kashyap, S.; Miyazaki, Y.; Kohane, I.; Costello, M.; Saccone, R., et al. Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: Potential role of pgc1 and nrf1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2003, 100, 8466-8471.
- Khan, S.A.; Sathyanarayan, A.; Mashek, M.T.; Ong, K.T.; Wollaston-Hayden,
   E.E.; Mashek, D.G. Atgl-catalyzed lipolysis regulates sirt1 to control
   pgc-1alpha/ppar-alpha signaling. Diabetes 2015, 64, 418-426.
- 54. Ren, Z.; He, H.; Zuo, Z.; Xu, Z.; Wei, Z.; Deng, J. The role of different sirt1-mediated signaling pathways in toxic injury. Cellular & molecular biology letters 2019, 24, 36.
- 55. Shakibaei, M.; Harikumar, K.B.; Aggarwal, B.B. Resveratrol addiction: To die or not to die. Molecular nutrition & food research 2009, 53, 115-128.
- 56. Saud, B.; Malla, R.; Shrestha, K. A review on the effect of plant extract on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Stem cells international 2019, 2019, 7513404.
- 57. Bisht, K.; Wagner, K.H.; Bulmer, A.C. Curcumin, resveratrol and flavonoids as anti-inflammatory, cyto- and DNA-protective dietary compounds. Toxicology 2010, 278, 88-100.
- 58. Ma, S.; Feng, J.; Zhang, R.; Chen, J.; Han, D.; Li, X.; Yang, B.; Li, X.; Fan, M.; Li, C., et al. Sirt1 activation by resveratrol alleviates cardiac dysfunction via mitochondrial regulation in diabetic cardiomyopathy mice. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2017, 2017, 4602715.
- 59. Xu, R.Y.; Xu, X.W.; Deng, Y.Z.; Ma, Z.X.; Li, X.R.; Zhao, L.; Qiu, L.J.; Liu, H.Y.; Chen, H.P. Resveratrol attenuates myocardial hypoxia/reoxygenation-induced

cell apoptosis through dj-1-mediated sirt1-p53 pathway. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2019, 514, 401-406.

- Farghali, H.; Kemelo, M.K.; Canova, N.K. Sirt1 modulators in experimentally induced liver injury. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2019, 2019, 8765954.
- Deng, Z.; Li, Y.; Liu, H.; Xiao, S.; Li, L.; Tian, J.; Cheng, C.; Zhang, G.; Zhang,
   F. The role of sirtuin 1 and its activator, resveratrol in osteoarthritis. Bioscience reports 2019, 39.
- 62. Wang, J.; Zhu, X.X.; Liu, L.; Xue, Y.; Yang, X.; Zou, H.J. Sirt1 prevents hyperuricemia via the pgc-1alpha/ppargamma-abcg2 pathway. Endocrine 2016, 53, 443-452.
- 63. Walle, T. Bioavailability of resveratrol. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2011, 1215, 9-15.
- 64. Farghali, H.; Kamenikova, L. [targeted drug delivery system: Potential application to resveratrol]. Ceska a Slovenska farmacie : casopis Ceske farmaceuticke spolecnosti a Slovenske farmaceuticke spolecnosti 66, 76-82.
- 65. Boocock, D.J.; Faust, G.E.; Patel, K.R.; Schinas, A.M.; Brown, V.A.; Ducharme, M.P.; Booth, T.D.; Crowell, J.A.; Perloff, M.; Gescher, A.J., et al. Phase i dose escalation pharmacokinetic study in healthy volunteers of resveratrol, a potential cancer chemopreventive agent. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 2007, 16, 1246-1252.
- Howells, L.M.; Berry, D.P.; Elliott, P.J.; Jacobson, E.W.; Hoffmann, E.; Hegarty, B.; Brown, K.; Steward, W.P.; Gescher, A.J. Phase i randomized, double-blind pilot study of micronized resveratrol (srt501) in patients with hepatic metastases--safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics. Cancer prevention research 2011, 4, 1419-1425.
- Popat, R.; Plesner, T.; Davies, F.; Cook, G.; Cook, M.; Elliott, P.; Jacobson, E.; Gumbleton, T.; Oakervee, H.; Cavenagh, J. A phase 2 study of srt501 (resveratrol) with bortezomib for patients with relapsed and or refractory multiple myeloma. British journal of haematology 2013, 160, 714-717.

- Milne, J.C.; Lambert, P.D.; Schenk, S.; Carney, D.P.; Smith, J.J.; Gagne, D.J.; Jin, L.; Boss, O.; Perni, R.B.; Vu, C.B., et al. Small molecule activators of sirt1 as therapeutics for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Nature 2007, 450, 712-716.
- Camont, L.; Cottart, C.H.; Rhayem, Y.; Nivet-Antoine, V.; Djelidi, R.; Collin, F.; Beaudeux, J.L.; Bonnefont-Rousselot, D. Simple spectrophotometric assessment of the trans-/cis-resveratrol ratio in aqueous solutions. Analytica chimica acta 2009, 634, 121-128.
- Peck, B.; Chen, C.Y.; Ho, K.K.; Di Fruscia, P.; Myatt, S.S.; Coombes, R.C.; Fuchter, M.J.; Hsiao, C.D.; Lam, E.W. Sirt inhibitors induce cell death and p53 acetylation through targeting both sirt1 and sirt2. Molecular cancer therapeutics 2010, 9, 844-855.
- Solomon, J.M.; Pasupuleti, R.; Xu, L.; McDonagh, T.; Curtis, R.; DiStefano, P.S.; Huber, L.J. Inhibition of sirt1 catalytic activity increases p53 acetylation but does not alter cell survival following DNA damage. Molecular and cellular biology 2006, 26, 28-38.
- 72. Wang, T.; Li, X.; Sun, S.L. Ex527, a sirt-1 inhibitor, induces apoptosis in glioma via activating the p53 signaling pathway. Anti-cancer drugs 2020, 31, 19-26.
- 73. Ohata, Y.; Matsukawa, S.; Moriyama, Y.; Michiue, T.; Morimoto, K.; Sato, Y.; Kuroda, H. Sirtuin inhibitor ex-527 causes neural tube defects, ventral edema formations, and gastrointestinal malformations in xenopus laevis embryos. Development, growth & differentiation 2014, 56, 460-468.
- Westerberg, G.; Chiesa, J.A.; Andersen, C.A.; Diamanti, D.; Magnoni, L.; Pollio, G.; Darpo, B.; Zhou, M. Safety, pharmacokinetics, pharmacogenomics and qt concentration-effect modelling of the sirt1 inhibitor selisistat in healthy volunteers. British journal of clinical pharmacology 2015, 79, 477-491.
- Jiang, Y.; Liu, J.; Chen, D.; Yan, L.; Zheng, W. Sirtuin inhibition: Strategies, inhibitors, and therapeutic potential. Trends in pharmacological sciences 2017, 38, 459-472.
- Wang, Y.; He, J.; Liao, M.; Hu, M.; Li, W.; Ouyang, H.; Wang, X.; Ye, T.; Zhang, Y.; Ouyang, L. An overview of sirtuins as potential therapeutic target: Structure, function and modulators. European journal of medicinal chemistry 2019, 161, 48-77.

- 77. Yamamoto, M.; Takahashi, Y. The essential role of sirt1 in hypothalamic-pituitary axis. Frontiers in endocrinology 2018, 9, 605.
- Ramadori, G.; Fujikawa, T.; Anderson, J.; Berglund, E.D.; Frazao, R.; Michan, S.; Vianna, C.R.; Sinclair, D.A.; Elias, C.F.; Coppari, R. Sirt1 deacetylase in sf1 neurons protects against metabolic imbalance. Cell metabolism 2011, 14, 301-312.
- Ramadori, G.; Fujikawa, T.; Fukuda, M.; Anderson, J.; Morgan, D.A.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Stuart, R.C.; Perello, M.; Vianna, C.R.; Nillni, E.A., et al. Sirt1 deacetylase in pomc neurons is required for homeostatic defenses against diet-induced obesity. Cell metabolism 2010, 12, 78-87.
- 80. Utani, K.; Aladjem, M.I. Extra view: Sirt1 acts as a gatekeeper of replication initiation to preserve genomic stability. Nucleus 2018, 9, 261-267.
- Fatoba, S.T.; Tognetti, S.; Berto, M.; Leo, E.; Mulvey, C.M.; Godovac-Zimmermann, J.; Pommier, Y.; Okorokov, A.L. Human sirt1 regulates DNA binding and stability of the mcm10 DNA replication factor via deacetylation. Nucleic acids research 2013, 41, 4065-4079.
- Liu, T.; Lin, Y.H.; Leng, W.; Jung, S.Y.; Zhang, H.; Deng, M.; Evans, D.; Li, Y.; Luo, K.; Qin, B., et al. A divergent role of the sirt1-topbp1 axis in regulating metabolic checkpoint and DNA damage checkpoint. Molecular cell 2014, 56, 681-695.
- Yuan, Z.; Zhang, X.; Sengupta, N.; Lane, W.S.; Seto, E. Sirt1 regulates the function of the nijmegen breakage syndrome protein. Molecular cell 2007, 27, 149-162.
- Li, K.; Casta, A.; Wang, R.; Lozada, E.; Fan, W.; Kane, S.; Ge, Q.; Gu, W.; Orren, D.; Luo, J. Regulation of wrn protein cellular localization and enzymatic activities by sirt1-mediated deacetylation. The Journal of biological chemistry 2008, 283, 7590-7598.
- B5. Jeong, J.; Juhn, K.; Lee, H.; Kim, S.H.; Min, B.H.; Lee, K.M.; Cho, M.H.; Park, G.H.; Lee, K.H. Sirt1 promotes DNA repair activity and deacetylation of ku70.
  Experimental & molecular medicine 2007, 39, 8-13.
- 86. Yamamori, T.; DeRicco, J.; Naqvi, A.; Hoffman, T.A.; Mattagajasingh, I.; Kasuno, K.; Jung, S.B.; Kim, C.S.; Irani, K. Sirt1 deacetylates ape1 and

regulates cellular base excision repair. Nucleic acids research 2010, 38, 832-845.

- 87. Ming, M.; Shea, C.R.; Guo, X.; Li, X.; Soltani, K.; Han, W.; He, Y.Y. Regulation of global genome nucleotide excision repair by sirt1 through xeroderma pigmentosum c. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2010, 107, 22623-22628.
- 88. Lagunas-Rangel, F.A. Current role of mammalian sirtuins in DNA repair. DNA repair 2019, 80, 85-92.
- Oberdoerffer, P.; Michan, S.; McVay, M.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Vann, J.; Park, S.K.; Hartlerode, A.; Stegmuller, J.; Hafner, A.; Loerch, P., et al. Sirt1 redistribution on chromatin promotes genomic stability but alters gene expression during aging. Cell 2008, 135, 907-918.
- 90. Shin, J.; Kim, J.; Park, H.; Kim, J. Investigating the role of sirtuins in cell reprogramming. BMB reports 2018, 51, 500-507.
- 91. Jang, J.; Huh, Y.J.; Cho, H.J.; Lee, B.; Park, J.; Hwang, D.Y.; Kim, D.W. Sirt1 enhances the survival of human embryonic stem cells by promoting DNA repair. Stem cell reports 2017, 9, 629-641.
- 92. Nihira, N.T.; Ogura, K.; Shimizu, K.; North, B.J.; Zhang, J.; Gao, D.; Inuzuka, H.; Wei, W. Acetylation-dependent regulation of mdm2 e3 ligase activity dictates its oncogenic function. Sci Signal 2017, 10.
- Alves-Fernandes, D.K.; Jasiulionis, M.G. The role of sirt1 on DNA damage response and epigenetic alterations in cancer. International journal of molecular sciences 2019, 20.
- 94. Cohen, H.Y.; Miller, C.; Bitterman, K.J.; Wall, N.R.; Hekking, B.; Kessler, B.; Howitz, K.T.; Gorospe, M.; de Cabo, R.; Sinclair, D.A. Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the sirt1 deacetylase. Science 2004, 305, 390-392.
- 95. Lee, I.H.; Cao, L.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Lombard, D.B.; Liu, J.; Bruns, N.E.; Tsokos, M.; Alt, F.W.; Finkel, T. A role for the nad-dependent deacetylase sirt1 in the regulation of autophagy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008, 105, 3374-3379.

- Bonkowski, M.S.; Sinclair, D.A. Slowing ageing by design: The rise of nad(+) and sirtuin-activating compounds. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 2016, 17, 679-690.
- Jeong, J.K.; Moon, M.H.; Lee, Y.J.; Seol, J.W.; Park, S.Y. Autophagy induced by the class iii histone deacetylase sirt1 prevents prion peptide neurotoxicity. Neurobiology of aging 2013, 34, 146-156.
- 98. Lee, I.H. Mechanisms and disease implications of sirtuin-mediated autophagic regulation. Experimental & molecular medicine 2019, 51, 1-11.
- Huang, R.; Xu, Y.; Wan, W.; Shou, X.; Qian, J.; You, Z.; Liu, B.; Chang, C.;
   Zhou, T.; Lippincott-Schwartz, J., et al. Deacetylation of nuclear lc3 drives autophagy initiation under starvation. Molecular cell 2015, 57, 456-466.
- 100. Luo, G.; Jian, Z.; Zhu, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Chen, B.; Ma, R.; Tang, F.; Xiao, Y. Sirt1 promotes autophagy and inhibits apoptosis to protect cardiomyocytes from hypoxic stress. International journal of molecular medicine 2019, 43, 2033-2043.
- Sathyanarayan, A.; Mashek, M.T.; Mashek, D.G. Atgl promotes autophagy/lipophagy via sirt1 to control hepatic lipid droplet catabolism. Cell reports 2017, 19, 1-9.
- 102. Tissenbaum, H.A.; Guarente, L. Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends lifespan in caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 2001, 410, 227-230.
- 103. Whitaker, R.; Faulkner, S.; Miyokawa, R.; Burhenn, L.; Henriksen, M.; Wood, J.G.; Helfand, S.L. Increased expression of drosophila sir2 extends life span in a dose-dependent manner. Aging 2013, 5, 682-691.
- 104. Satoh, A.; Brace, C.S.; Rensing, N.; Cliften, P.; Wozniak, D.F.; Herzog, E.D.; Yamada, K.A.; Imai, S. Sirt1 extends life span and delays aging in mice through the regulation of nk2 homeobox 1 in the dmh and lh. Cell metabolism 2013, 18, 416-430.
- Kaeberlein, M.; McVey, M.; Guarente, L. The sir2/3/4 complex and sir2 alone promote longevity in saccharomyces cerevisiae by two different mechanisms. Genes & development 1999, 13, 2570-2580.
- 106. Pearson, K.J.; Baur, J.A.; Lewis, K.N.; Peshkin, L.; Price, N.L.; Labinskyy, N.; Swindell, W.R.; Kamara, D.; Minor, R.K.; Perez, E., et al. Resveratrol delays

age-related deterioration and mimics transcriptional aspects of dietary restriction without extending life span. Cell metabolism 2008, 8, 157-168.

- 107. Strong, R.; Miller, R.A.; Astle, C.M.; Baur, J.A.; de Cabo, R.; Fernandez, E.; Guo, W.; Javors, M.; Kirkland, J.L.; Nelson, J.F., et al. Evaluation of resveratrol, green tea extract, curcumin, oxaloacetic acid, and medium-chain triglyceride oil on life span of genetically heterogeneous mice. The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences 2013, 68, 6-16.
- Gong, H.; Pang, J.; Han, Y.; Dai, Y.; Dai, D.; Cai, J.; Zhang, T.M.
   Age-dependent tissue expression patterns of sirt1 in senescence-accelerated mice. Molecular medicine reports 2014, 10, 3296-3302.
- 109. Cho, S.H.; Chen, J.A.; Sayed, F.; Ward, M.E.; Gao, F.; Nguyen, T.A.; Krabbe, G.; Sohn, P.D.; Lo, I.; Minami, S., et al. Sirt1 deficiency in microglia contributes to cognitive decline in aging and neurodegeneration via epigenetic regulation of il-1beta. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 2015, 35, 807-818.
- 110. Arunachalam, G.; Samuel, S.M.; Marei, I.; Ding, H.; Triggle, C.R. Metformin modulates hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial senescence and apoptosis through sirt1. British journal of pharmacology 2014, 171, 523-535.
- 111. Gano, L.B.; Donato, A.J.; Pasha, H.M.; Hearon, C.M., Jr.; Sindler, A.L.; Seals, D.R. The sirt1 activator srt1720 reverses vascular endothelial dysfunction, excessive superoxide production, and inflammation with aging in mice. American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology 2014, 307, H1754-1763.
- 112. Zheng, C.; Yin, Q.; Wu, H. Structural studies of nf-kappab signaling. Cell research 2011, 21, 183-195.
- 113. Guo, R.; Liu, B.; Wang, K.; Zhou, S.; Li, W.; Xu, Y. Resveratrol ameliorates diabetic vascular inflammation and macrophage infiltration in db/db mice by inhibiting the nf-kappab pathway. Diabetes & vascular disease research 2014, 11, 92-102.
- 114. Velagapudi, R.; El-Bakoush, A.; Lepiarz, I.; Ogunrinade, F.; Olajide, O.A. Ampk and sirt1 activation contribute to inhibition of neuroinflammation by thymoquinone in bv2 microglia. Molecular and cellular biochemistry 2017, 435, 149-162.

- 115. Pacifici, F.; Di Cola, D.; Pastore, D.; Abete, P.; Guadagni, F.; Donadel, G.; Bellia, A.; Esposito, E.; Salimei, C.; Sinibaldi Salimei, P., et al. Proposed tandem effect of physical activity and sirtuin 1 and 3 activation in regulating glucose homeostasis. International journal of molecular sciences 2019, 20.
- 116. Kong, S.; Kim, S.J.; Sandal, B.; Lee, S.M.; Gao, B.; Zhang, D.D.; Fang, D. The type iii histone deacetylase sirt1 protein suppresses p300-mediated histone h3 lysine 56 acetylation at bclaf1 promoter to inhibit t cell activation. The Journal of biological chemistry 2011, 286, 16967-16975.
- 117. McPherson, J.P.; Sarras, H.; Lemmers, B.; Tamblyn, L.; Migon, E.; Matysiak-Zablocki, E.; Hakem, A.; Azami, S.A.; Cardoso, R.; Fish, J., et al. Essential role for bclaf1 in lung development and immune system function. Cell death and differentiation 2009, 16, 331-339.
- 118. Wang, Y.; Bi, Y.; Chen, X.; Li, C.; Li, Y.; Zhang, Z.; Wang, J.; Lu, Y.; Yu, Q.; Su, H., et al. Histone deacetylase sirt1 negatively regulates the differentiation of interleukin-9-producing cd4(+) t cells. Immunity 2016, 44, 1337-1349.
- Welsh, K.J.; Zhao, B.; Buja, L.M.; Brown, R.E. Sirt1-positive lymphocytes in acute cellular cardiac allograft rejection: Contributor to pathogenesis and a therapeutic target. ASAIO journal 2016, 62, 349-353.
- 120. Chadha, S.; Wang, L.; Hancock, W.W.; Beier, U.H. Sirtuin-1 in immunotherapy: A janus-headed target. Journal of leukocyte biology 2019, 106, 337-343.
- 121. Jeng, M.Y.; Hull, P.A.; Fei, M.; Kwon, H.S.; Tsou, C.L.; Kasler, H.; Ng, C.P.; Gordon, D.E.; Johnson, J.; Krogan, N., et al. Metabolic reprogramming of human cd8(+) memory t cells through loss of sirt1. The Journal of experimental medicine 2018, 215, 51-62.
- 122. Schug, T.T.; Xu, Q.; Gao, H.; Peres-da-Silva, A.; Draper, D.W.; Fessler, M.B.; Purushotham, A.; Li, X. Myeloid deletion of sirt1 induces inflammatory signaling in response to environmental stress. Molecular and cellular biology 2010, 30, 4712-4721.
- Caruso, R.; Marafini, I.; Franze, E.; Stolfi, C.; Zorzi, F.; Monteleone, I.; Caprioli, F.; Colantoni, A.; Sarra, M.; Sedda, S., et al. Defective expression of sirt1 contributes to sustain inflammatory pathways in the gut. Mucosal immunology 2014, 7, 1467-1479.

- 124. Liu, T.F.; McCall, C.E. Deacetylation by sirt1 reprograms inflammation and cancer. Genes & cancer 2013, 4, 135-147.
- 125. Zhang, R.; Chen, H.Z.; Liu, J.J.; Jia, Y.Y.; Zhang, Z.Q.; Yang, R.F.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, J.; Wei, Y.S.; Liu, D.P., et al. Sirt1 suppresses activator protein-1 transcriptional activity and cyclooxygenase-2 expression in macrophages. The Journal of biological chemistry 2010, 285, 7097-7110.
- 126. Yu, Q.; Dong, L.; Li, Y.; Liu, G. Sirt1 and hif1alpha signaling in metabolism and immune responses. Cancer letters 2018, 418, 20-26.
- Warren, J.L.; MacIver, N.J. Regulation of adaptive immune cells by sirtuins.
   Frontiers in endocrinology 2019, 10, 466.
- 128. Potente, M.; Ghaeni, L.; Baldessari, D.; Mostoslavsky, R.; Rossig, L.; Dequiedt, F.; Haendeler, J.; Mione, M.; Dejana, E.; Alt, F.W., et al. Sirt1 controls endothelial angiogenic functions during vascular growth. Genes & development 2007, 21, 2644-2658.
- 129. Firestein, R.; Blander, G.; Michan, S.; Oberdoerffer, P.; Ogino, S.; Campbell, J.; Bhimavarapu, A.; Luikenhuis, S.; de Cabo, R.; Fuchs, C., et al. The sirt1 deacetylase suppresses intestinal tumorigenesis and colon cancer growth. Plos One 2008, 3, e2020.
- 130. Gan, L.; Mucke, L. Paths of convergence: Sirtuins in aging and neurodegeneration. Neuron 2008, 58, 10-14.
- 131. Abiri, B.; Vafa, M. Dietary restriction, cardiovascular aging and age-related cardiovascular diseases: A review of the evidence. Advances in experimental medicine and biology 2019, 1178, 113-127.
- 132. Qu, H.; Lin, K.; Wang, H.; Wei, H.; Ji, B.; Yang, Z.; Peng, C.; Xiao, X.; Deng, H. 1,25(oh)2 d3 improves cardiac dysfunction, hypertrophy, and fibrosis through parp1/sirt1/mtor-related mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. Molecular nutrition & food research 2017, 61.
- Li, J.; Huang, J.; Lu, J.; Guo, Z.; Li, Z.; Gao, H.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Cai, S.; Hu, Y., et al. Sirtuin 1 represses pkc-zeta activity through regulating interplay of acetylation and phosphorylation in cardiac hypertrophy. British journal of pharmacology 2019, 176, 416-435.
- 134. Sahebkar, A.; Serban, C.; Ursoniu, S.; Wong, N.D.; Muntner, P.; Graham, I.M.; Mikhailidis, D.P.; Rizzo, M.; Rysz, J.; Sperling, L.S., et al. Lack of efficacy of

resveratrol on c-reactive protein and selected cardiovascular risk factors--results from a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. International journal of cardiology 2015, 189, 47-55.

- 135. Ye, X.; Li, M.; Hou, T.; Gao, T.; Zhu, W.G.; Yang, Y. Sirtuins in glucose and lipid metabolism. Oncotarget 2017, 8, 1845-1859.
- 136. Lee, J.H.; Song, M.Y.; Song, E.K.; Kim, E.K.; Moon, W.S.; Han, M.K.; Park, J.W.; Kwon, K.B.; Park, B.H. Overexpression of sirt1 protects pancreatic beta-cells against cytokine toxicity by suppressing the nuclear factor-kappab signaling pathway. Diabetes 2009, 58, 344-351.
- 137. Kitada, M.; Ogura, Y.; Monno, I.; Koya, D. Sirtuins and type 2 diabetes: Role in inflammation, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial function. Frontiers in endocrinology 2019, 10, 187.
- 138. Qiao, L.; Shao, J. Sirt1 regulates adiponectin gene expression through foxo1-c/enhancer-binding protein alpha transcriptional complex. The Journal of biological chemistry 2006, 281, 39915-39924.
- 139. Iwabu, M.; Yamauchi, T.; Okada-Iwabu, M.; Sato, K.; Nakagawa, T.; Funata, M.; Yamaguchi, M.; Namiki, S.; Nakayama, R.; Tabata, M., et al. Adiponectin and adipor1 regulate pgc-1alpha and mitochondria by ca(2+) and ampk/sirt1. Nature 2010, 464, 1313-1319.
- 140. Hasegawa, K.; Wakino, S.; Yoshioka, K.; Tatematsu, S.; Hara, Y.; Minakuchi, H.; Washida, N.; Tokuyama, H.; Hayashi, K.; Itoh, H. Sirt1 protects against oxidative stress-induced renal tubular cell apoptosis by the bidirectional regulation of catalase expression. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2008, 372, 51-56.
- 141. Fujita, Y.; Yamashita, T. Sirtuins in neuroendocrine regulation and neurological diseases. Frontiers in neuroscience 2018, 12, 778.
- 142. Michan, S.; Li, Y.; Chou, M.M.; Parrella, E.; Ge, H.; Long, J.M.; Allard, J.S.; Lewis, K.; Miller, M.; Xu, W., et al. Sirt1 is essential for normal cognitive function and synaptic plasticity. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 2010, 30, 9695-9707.
- 143. Stamatovic, S.M.; Martinez-Revollar, G.; Hu, A.; Choi, J.; Keep, R.F.; Andjelkovic, A.V. Decline in sirtuin-1 expression and activity plays a critical role

in blood-brain barrier permeability in aging. Neurobiology of disease 2019, 126, 105-116.

- Gao, J.; Wang, W.Y.; Mao, Y.W.; Graff, J.; Guan, J.S.; Pan, L.; Mak, G.; Kim, D.; Su, S.C.; Tsai, L.H. A novel pathway regulates memory and plasticity via sirt1 and mir-134. Nature 2010, 466, 1105-1109.
- 145. Singh, P.; Hanson, P.S.; Morris, C.M. Sirt1 ameliorates oxidative stress induced neural cell death and is down-regulated in parkinson's disease. BMC neuroscience 2017, 18, 46.
- 146. Chen, J.; Zhou, Y.; Mueller-Steiner, S.; Chen, L.F.; Kwon, H.; Yi, S.; Mucke, L.; Gan, L. Sirt1 protects against microglia-dependent amyloid-beta toxicity through inhibiting nf-kappab signaling. J Biol Chem 2005, 280, 40364-40374.
- 147. Xu, J.; Jackson, C.W.; Khoury, N.; Escobar, I.; Perez-Pinzon, M.A. Brain sirt1 mediates metabolic homeostasis and neuroprotection. Frontiers in endocrinology 2018, 9, 702.
- 148. Sweeney, G.; Song, J. The association between pgc-1alpha and alzheimer's disease. Anatomy & cell biology 2016, 49, 1-6.
- 149. Ramis, M.R.; Esteban, S.; Miralles, A.; Tan, D.X.; Reiter, R.J. Caloric restriction, resveratrol and melatonin: Role of sirt1 and implications for aging and related-diseases. Mechanisms of ageing and development 2015, 146-148, 28-41.
- 150. Rizzi, L.; Roriz-Cruz, M. Sirtuin 1 and alzheimer's disease: An up-to-date review. Neuropeptides 2018, 71, 54-60.
- 151. Liu, A.J.; Guo, J.M.; Liu, W.; Su, F.Y.; Zhai, Q.W.; Mehta, J.L.; Wang, W.Z.; Su, D.F. Involvement of arterial baroreflex in the protective effect of dietary restriction against stroke. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 2013, 33, 906-913.
- 152. Ham, P.B., 3rd; Raju, R. Mitochondrial function in hypoxic ischemic injury and influence of aging. Progress in neurobiology 2017, 157, 92-116.
- 153. Shin, J.A.; Lee, K.E.; Kim, H.S.; Park, E.M. Acute resveratrol treatment modulates multiple signaling pathways in the ischemic brain. Neurochemical research 2012, 37, 2686-2696.

- 154. Dong, W.; Li, N.; Gao, D.; Zhen, H.; Zhang, X.; Li, F. Resveratrol attenuates ischemic brain damage in the delayed phase after stroke and induces messenger rna and protein express for angiogenic factors. Journal of vascular surgery 2008, 48, 709-714.
- 155. Lu, K.T.; Chiou, R.Y.; Chen, L.G.; Chen, M.H.; Tseng, W.T.; Hsieh, H.T.; Yang, Y.L. Neuroprotective effects of resveratrol on cerebral ischemia-induced neuron loss mediated by free radical scavenging and cerebral blood flow elevation. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 2006, 54, 3126-3131.
- Zhang, J.F.; Zhang, Y.L.; Wu, Y.C. The role of sirt1 in ischemic stroke: Pathogenesis and therapeutic strategies. Frontiers in neuroscience 2018, 12, 833.
- Jin, J.; Chu, Z.; Ma, P.; Meng, Y.; Yang, Y. Sirt1 promotes the proliferation and metastasis of human pancreatic cancer cells. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine 2017, 39, 1010428317691180.
- Rifai, K.; Idrissou, M.; Penault-Llorca, F.; Bignon, Y.J.; Bernard-Gallon, D. Breaking down the contradictory roles of histone deacetylase sirt1 in human breast cancer. Cancers 2018, 10.
- 159. Anderson, G.; Reiter, R.J. Glioblastoma: Role of mitochondria n-acetylserotonin/melatonin ratio in mediating effects of mir-451 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor and in coordinating wider biochemical changes. International journal of tryptophan research : IJTR 2019, 12, 1178646919855942.
- Anderson, G. Breast cancer: Occluded role of mitochondria n-acetylserotonin/melatonin ratio in co-ordinating pathophysiology. Biochemical pharmacology 2019, 168, 259-268.
- 161. Audrito, V.; Manago, A.; Gaudino, F.; Sorci, L.; Messana, V.G.; Raffaelli, N.; Deaglio, S. Nad-biosynthetic and consuming enzymes as central players of metabolic regulation of innate and adaptive immune responses in cancer. Frontiers in immunology 2019, 10, 1720.
- 162. Zhang, J.; Lee, S.M.; Shannon, S.; Gao, B.; Chen, W.; Chen, A.; Divekar, R.; McBurney, M.W.; Braley-Mullen, H.; Zaghouani, H., et al. The type iii histone

deacetylase sirt1 is essential for maintenance of t cell tolerance in mice. The Journal of clinical investigation 2009, 119, 3048-3058.

- Lee, H.; Kim, K.R.; Noh, S.J.; Park, H.S.; Kwon, K.S.; Park, B.H.; Jung, S.H.; Youn, H.J.; Lee, B.K.; Chung, M.J., et al. Expression of dbc1 and sirt1 is associated with poor prognosis for breast carcinoma. Human pathology 2011, 42, 204-213.
- 164. Kim, J.E.; Chen, J.; Lou, Z. Dbc1 is a negative regulator of sirt1. Nature 2008, 451, 583-586.
- Huffman, D.M.; Grizzle, W.E.; Bamman, M.M.; Kim, J.S.; Eltoum, I.A.; Elgavish, A.; Nagy, T.R. Sirt1 is significantly elevated in mouse and human prostate cancer. Cancer research 2007, 67, 6612-6618.
- 166. Wang, B.; Hasan, M.K.; Alvarado, E.; Yuan, H.; Wu, H.; Chen, W.Y. Nampt overexpression in prostate cancer and its contribution to tumor cell survival and stress response. Oncogene 2011, 30, 907-921.
- Stunkel, W.; Peh, B.K.; Tan, Y.C.; Nayagam, V.M.; Wang, X.; Salto-Tellez, M.; Ni, B.; Entzeroth, M.; Wood, J. Function of the sirt1 protein deacetylase in cancer. Biotechnology journal 2007, 2, 1360-1368.
- Chen, H.C.; Jeng, Y.M.; Yuan, R.H.; Hsu, H.C.; Chen, Y.L. Sirt1 promotes tumorigenesis and resistance to chemotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma and its expression predicts poor prognosis. Annals of surgical oncology 2012, 19, 2011-2019.
- Sun, M.; Du, M.; Zhang, W.; Xiong, S.; Gong, X.; Lei, P.; Zha, J.; Zhu, H.; Li, H.; Huang, D., et al. Survival and clinicopathological significance of sirt1 expression in cancers: A meta-analysis. Frontiers in endocrinology 2019, 10, 121.
- 170. Edatt, L.; Poyyakkara, A.; Raji, G.R.; Ramachandran, V.; Shankar, S.S.; Kumar,
  V.B.S. Role of sirtuins in tumor angiogenesis. Frontiers in oncology 2019, 9,
  1516.
- 171. Xu, Y.; Qin, Q.; Chen, R.; Wei, C.; Mo, Q. Sirt1 promotes proliferation, migration, and invasion of breast cancer cell line mcf-7 by upregulating DNA polymerase delta1 (pold1). Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2018, 502, 351-357.

- 172. Zhao, W.; Kruse, J.P.; Tang, Y.; Jung, S.Y.; Qin, J.; Gu, W. Negative regulation of the deacetylase sirt1 by dbc1. Nature 2008, 451, 587-590.
- 173. Abdelmawgoud, H.; El Awady, R.R. Effect of sirtuin 1 inhibition on matrix metalloproteinase 2 and forkhead box o3a expression in breast cancer cells. Genes & diseases 2017, 4, 240-246.
- 174. Subbaramaiah, K.; Iyengar, N.M.; Morrow, M.; Elemento, O.; Zhou, X.K.; Dannenberg, A.J. Prostaglandin e2 down-regulates sirtuin 1 (sirt1), leading to elevated levels of aromatase, providing insights into the obesity-breast cancer connection. The Journal of biological chemistry 2019, 294, 361-371.
- 175. Global Burden of Disease Liver Cancer, C.; Akinyemiju, T.; Abera, S.; Ahmed, M.; Alam, N.; Alemayohu, M.A.; Allen, C.; Al-Raddadi, R.; Alvis-Guzman, N.; Amoako, Y., et al. The burden of primary liver cancer and underlying etiologies from 1990 to 2015 at the global, regional, and national level: Results from the global burden of disease study 2015. JAMA oncology 2017, 3, 1683-1691.
- 176. Chen, J.; Zhang, B.; Wong, N.; Lo, A.W.; To, K.F.; Chan, A.W.; Ng, M.H.; Ho, C.Y.; Cheng, S.H.; Lai, P.B., et al. Sirtuin 1 is upregulated in a subset of hepatocellular carcinomas where it is essential for telomere maintenance and tumor cell growth. Cancer research 2011, 71, 4138-4149.
- 177. Choi, H.N.; Bae, J.S.; Jamiyandorj, U.; Noh, S.J.; Park, H.S.; Jang, K.Y.; Chung, M.J.; Kang, M.J.; Lee, D.G.; Moon, W.S. Expression and role of sirt1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology reports 2011, 26, 503-510.
- Molla, M.D.; Dessie, G.; Akalu, Y.; Ayelign, B. Hepatocellular expression of sirt1 and its effect on hepatocellular carcinoma progression: A future therapeutic perspective. International journal of hepatology 2020, 2020, 2374615.
- 179. Wang, H.; Liu, H.; Chen, K.; Xiao, J.; He, K.; Zhang, J.; Xiang, G. Sirt1 promotes tumorigenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma through pi3k/pten/akt signaling. Oncology reports 2012, 28, 311-318.
- Gong, J.; Chuang, J.; Cho, M.; Toomey, K.; Hendifar, A.; Li, D. Molecular targets, pathways, and therapeutic implications for hepatocellular carcinoma. International journal of molecular sciences 2020, 21.

- Farcas, M.; Gavrea, A.A.; Gulei, D.; Ionescu, C.; Irimie, A.; Catana, C.S.; Berindan-Neagoe, I. Sirt1 in the development and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Frontiers in nutrition 2019, 6, 148.
- 182. Liu, L.; Liu, C.; Zhang, Q.; Shen, J.; Zhang, H.; Shan, J.; Duan, G.; Guo, D.; Chen, X.; Cheng, J., et al. Sirt1-mediated transcriptional regulation of sox2 is important for self-renewal of liver cancer stem cells. Hepatology 2016, 64, 814-827.
- Wei, Z.; Jia, J.; Heng, G.; Xu, H.; Shan, J.; Wang, G.; Liu, C.; Xia, J.; Zhou, H.;
   Wu, M., et al. Sirtuin-1/mitochondrial ribosomal protein s5 axis enhances the metabolic flexibility of liver cancer stem cells. Hepatology 2019, 70, 1197-1213.
- 184. Chen, X.; Hokka, D.; Maniwa, Y.; Ohbayashi, C.; Itoh, T.; Hayashi, Y. Sirt1 is a tumor promoter in lung adenocarcinoma. Oncology letters 2014, 8, 387-393.
- 185. Han, L.; Liang, X.H.; Chen, L.X.; Bao, S.M.; Yan, Z.Q. Sirt1 is highly expressed in brain metastasis tissues of non-small cell lung cancer (nsclc) and in positive regulation of nsclc cell migration. International journal of clinical and experimental pathology 2013, 6, 2357-2365.
- 186. Yang, F. The expression and mechanism of sirt1 and ampk in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Journal of B.U.ON. : official journal of the Balkan Union of Oncology 2018, 23, 106-110.
- 187. Hu, L.Y.; Hou, Y.B.; Yu, L.H.; Mi, Y.H.; Zhang, J.W.; Wang, K. Expression of sirt1 gene in human lung cancer lines enhances their sensitivity to the anticancer effects of cisplatin. European review for medical and pharmacological sciences 2018, 22, 4551-4556.
- 188. Yousafzai, N.A.; Zhou, Q.; Xu, W.; Shi, Q.; Xu, J.; Feng, L.; Chen, H.; Shin, V.Y.; Jin, H.; Wang, X. Sirt1 deacetylated and stabilized xrcc1 to promote chemoresistance in lung cancer. Cell death & disease 2019, 10, 363.
- 189. Wu, S.; Jiang, J.; Liu, J.; Wang, X.; Gan, Y.; Tang, Y. Meta-analysis of sirt1 expression as a prognostic marker for overall survival in gastrointestinal cancer. Oncotarget 2017, 8, 62589-62599.
- 190. Lucena-Cacace, A.; Otero-Albiol, D.; Jimenez-Garcia, M.P.; Munoz-Galvan, S.; Carnero, A. Nampt is a potent oncogene in colon cancer progression that modulates cancer stem cell properties and resistance to therapy through sirt1

and parp. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 2018, 24, 1202-1215.

- 191. Pyo, J.S.; Kim, E.K. Clinicopathological significance and prognostic implication of nuclear factor-kappab activation in colorectal cancer. Pathology, research and practice 2019, 215, 152469.
- 192. Yu, S.; Zhou, R.; Yang, T.; Liu, S.; Cui, Z.; Qiao, Q.; Zhang, J. Hypoxia promotes colorectal cancer cell migration and invasion in a sirt1-dependent manner. Cancer cell international 2019, 19, 116.
- Ruan, L.; Wang, L.; Wang, X.; He, M.; Yao, X. Sirt1 contributes to neuroendocrine differentiation of prostate cancer. Oncotarget 2018, 9, 2002-2016.
- 194. Byles, V.; Zhu, L.; Lovaas, J.D.; Chmilewski, L.K.; Wang, J.; Faller, D.V.; Dai, Y. Sirt1 induces emt by cooperating with emt transcription factors and enhances prostate cancer cell migration and metastasis. Oncogene 2012, 31, 4619-4629.
- 195. Rifai, K.; Judes, G.; Idrissou, M.; Daures, M.; Bignon, Y.J.; Penault-Llorca, F.; Bernard-Gallon, D. Dual sirt1 expression patterns strongly suggests its bivalent role in human breast cancer. Oncotarget 2017, 8, 110922-110930.
- 196. Rifai, K.; Judes, G.; Idrissou, M.; Daures, M.; Bignon, Y.J.; Penault-Llorca, F.; Bernard-Gallon, D. Sirt1-dependent epigenetic regulation of h3 and h4 histone acetylation in human breast cancer. Oncotarget 2018, 9, 30661-30678.
- 197. Jin, X.; Wei, Y.; Liu, Y.; Lu, X.; Ding, F.; Wang, J.; Yang, S. Resveratrol promotes sensitization to doxorubicin by inhibiting epithelial-mesenchymal transition and modulating sirt1/beta-catenin signaling pathway in breast cancer. Cancer medicine 2019, 8, 1246-1257.
- 198. Wei, Y.; Guo, Y.; Zhou, J.; Dai, K.; Xu, Q.; Jin, X. Nicotinamide overcomes doxorubicin resistance of breast cancer cells through deregulating sirt1/akt pathway. Anti-cancer agents in medicinal chemistry 2019, 19, 687-696.
- 199. Fatehi, D.; Soltani, A.; Ghatrehsamani, M. Srt1720, a potential sensitizer for radiotherapy and cytotoxicity effects of nvb-bez235 in metastatic breast cancer cells. Pathology, research and practice 2018, 214, 889-895.
- Purushotham, A.; Schug, T.T.; Xu, Q.; Surapureddi, S.; Guo, X.; Li, X.
   Hepatocyte-specific deletion of sirt1 alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation. Cell metabolism 2009, 9, 327-338.

- 201. Wu, Q.; Wang, Y.; Qian, M.; Qiao, Y.; Zou, S.; Chen, C.; Zhang, X.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Zhu, G., et al. Sirt1 suppresses wnt/betacatenin signaling in liver cancer cells by targeting betacatenin in a pkaalpha-dependent manner. Cellular signalling 2017, 37, 62-73.
- 202. Zhou, B.; Yang, Y.; Li, C. Sirt1 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis by promoting m1 macrophage polarization via nf-kappab pathway. OncoTargets and therapy 2019, 12, 2519-2529.
- Chai, R.; Fu, H.; Zheng, Z.; Liu, T.; Ji, S.; Li, G. Resveratrol inhibits proliferation and migration through sirt1 mediated posttranslational modification of pi3k/akt signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Molecular medicine reports 2017, 16, 8037-8044.
- 204. Kwon, H.Y.; Kim, J.H.; Kim, B.; Srivastava, S.K.; Kim, S.H. Regulation of sirt1/ampk axis is critically involved in gallotannin-induced senescence and impaired autophagy leading to cell death in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Archives of toxicology 2018, 92, 241-257.
- 205. Shin, J.; Lee, K.S.; Yoh, K.A.; Cho, H.J.; Choi, M.K.; Kim, S.H.; Kim, Y.J.; Chung, J.H.; Cho, S.; Kim, K., et al. Prognostic impact of DNA repair protein expression in non-small cell lung cancers treated with platinum-based chemotherapy and subsequent curative lung resection. Oncology 2018, 95, 20-30.
- 206. Costa-Machado, L.F.; Martin-Hernandez, R.; Sanchez-Luengo, M.A.; Hess, K.; Vales-Villamarin, C.; Barradas, M.; Lynch, C.; de la Nava, D.; Diaz-Ruiz, A.; de Cabo, R., et al. Sirt1 protects from k-ras-driven lung carcinogenesis. EMBO reports 2018, 19.
- 207. Ji, K.; Sun, X.; Liu, Y.; Du, L.; Wang, Y.; He, N.; Wang, J.; Xu, C.; Liu, Q. Regulation of apoptosis and radiation sensitization in lung cancer cells via the sirt1/nf-kappab/smac pathway. Cellular physiology and biochemistry : international journal of experimental cellular physiology, biochemistry, and pharmacology 2018, 48, 304-316.
- Zhang, Y.; Sun, C.; Xiao, G.; Shan, H.; Tang, L.; Yi, Y.; Yu, W.; Gu, Y. S-nitrosylation of the peroxiredoxin-2 promotes s-nitrosoglutathione-mediated lung cancer cells apoptosis via ampk-sirt1 pathway. Cell death & disease 2019, 10, 329.

- 209. Wang, J.; Li, J.; Cao, N.; Li, Z.; Han, J.; Li, L. Resveratrol, an activator of sirt1, induces protective autophagy in non-small-cell lung cancer via inhibiting akt/mtor and activating p38-mapk. OncoTargets and therapy 2018, 11, 7777-7786.
- 210. Lee, B.B.; Kim, Y.; Kim, D.; Cho, E.Y.; Han, J.; Kim, H.K.; Shim, Y.M.; Kim, D.H. Metformin and tenovin-6 synergistically induces apoptosis through Ikb1-independent sirt1 down-regulation in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine 2019, 23, 2872-2889.
- 211. Ye, Z.; Fang, B.; Pan, J.; Zhang, N.; Huang, J.; Xie, C.; Lou, T.; Cao, Z. Mir-138 suppresses the proliferation, metastasis and autophagy of non-small cell lung cancer by targeting sirt1. Oncology reports 2017, 37, 3244-3252.
- 212. Kabra, N.; Li, Z.; Chen, L.; Li, B.; Zhang, X.; Wang, C.; Yeatman, T.; Coppola, D.; Chen, J. Sirt1 is an inhibitor of proliferation and tumor formation in colon cancer. The Journal of biological chemistry 2009, 284, 18210-18217.
- 213. Yang, H.; Chen, Y.; Jiang, Y.; Wang, D.; Yan, J.; Zhou, Z. Tp53 mutation influences the efficacy of treatment of colorectal cancer cell lines with a combination of sirtuin inhibitors and chemotherapeutic agents. Experimental and therapeutic medicine 2020, 20, 1415-1422.
- 214. Song, N.Y.; Lee, Y.H.; Na, H.K.; Baek, J.H.; Surh, Y.J. Leptin induces sirt1 expression through activation of nf-e2-related factor 2: Implications for obesity-associated colon carcinogenesis. Biochemical pharmacology 2018, 153, 282-291.
- 215. Cao, M.; Zhang, Z.; Han, S.; Lu, X. Butyrate inhibits the proliferation and induces the apoptosis of colorectal cancer hct116 cells via the deactivation of mtor/s6k1 signaling mediated partly by sirt1 downregulation. Molecular medicine reports 2019, 19, 3941-3947.
- 216. Shu, Y.; Ren, L.; Xie, B.; Liang, Z.; Chen, J. Mir-204 enhances mitochondrial apoptosis in doxorubicin-treated prostate cancer cells by targeting sirt1/p53 pathway. Oncotarget 2017, 8, 97313-97322.
- 217. Bourguet, W.; Ruff, M.; Chambon, P.; Gronemeyer, H.; Moras, D. Crystal structure of the ligand-binding domain of the human nuclear receptor rxr-alpha. Nature 1995, 375, 377-382.

- de Almeida, N.R.; Conda-Sheridan, M. A review of the molecular design and biological activities of rxr agonists. Medicinal research reviews 2019, 39, 1372-1397.
- 219. Brtko, J.; Dvorak, Z. Natural and synthetic retinoid x receptor ligands and their role in selected nuclear receptor action. Biochimie 2020, 179, 157-168.
- 220. Purdie, D.M.; Green, A.C. Epidemiology of endometrial cancer. Best practice & research. Clinical obstetrics & gynaecology 2001, 15, 341-354.
- 221. Mohr, S.B.; Garland, C.F.; Gorham, E.D.; Grant, W.B.; Garland, F.C. Is ultraviolet b irradiance inversely associated with incidence rates of endometrial cancer: An ecological study of 107 countries. Preventive medicine 2007, 45, 327-331.
- 222. Morice, P.; Leary, A.; Creutzberg, C.; Abu-Rustum, N.; Darai, E. Endometrial cancer. Lancet 2016, 387, 1094-1108.
- 223. Deuster, E.; Jeschke, U.; Ye, Y.; Mahner, S.; Czogalla, B. Vitamin d and vdr in gynecological cancers-a systematic review. International journal of molecular sciences 2017, 18.
- Epstein, E.; Lindqvist, P.G.; Geppert, B.; Olsson, H. A population-based cohort study on sun habits and endometrial cancer. British journal of cancer 2009, 101, 537-540.
- 225. Sabir, M.S.; Khan, Z.; Hu, C.; Galligan, M.A.; Dussik, C.M.; Mallick, S.; Stone, A.D.; Batie, S.F.; Jacobs, E.T.; Whitfield, G.K., et al. Sirt1 enzymatically potentiates 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d3 signaling via vitamin d receptor deacetylation. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 2017, 172, 117-129.
- 226. Bonofiglio, D.; Cione, E.; Vizza, D.; Perri, M.; Pingitore, A.; Qi, H.; Catalano, S.; Rovito, D.; Genchi, G.; Ando, S. Bid as a potential target of apoptotic effects exerted by low doses of ppargamma and rxr ligands in breast cancer cells. Cell cycle 2011, 10, 2344-2354.
- 227. Sanchez, D.J.; Steger, D.J.; Skuli, N.; Bansal, A.; Simon, M.C. Ppargamma is dispensable for clear cell renal cell carcinoma progression. Molecular metabolism 2018, 14, 139-149.
- 228. Oka, S.; Alcendor, R.; Zhai, P.; Park, J.Y.; Shao, D.; Cho, J.; Yamamoto, T.; Tian, B.; Sadoshima, J. Pparalpha-sirt1 complex mediates cardiac hypertrophy

and failure through suppression of the err transcriptional pathway. Cell metabolism 2011, 14, 598-611.

- 229. Sung, H.; Ferlay, J.; Siegel, R.L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Jemal, A.; Bray, F. Global cancer statistics 2020: Globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 2021.
- 230. Mikami, S.; Ota, I.; Masui, T.; Uchiyama, T.; Okamoto, H.; Kimura, T.; Takasawa, S.; Kitahara, T. Resveratrolinduced reg iii expression enhances chemo and radiosensitivity in head and neck cancer in xenograft mice. Oncology reports 2019, 42, 436-442.
- 231. Kim, T.H.; Park, J.H.; Woo, J.S. Resveratrol induces cell death through rosdependent downregulation of notch1/pten/akt signaling in ovarian cancer cells. Molecular medicine reports 2019, 19, 3353-3360.
- Said, R.S.; Mantawy, E.M.; El-Demerdash, E. Mechanistic perspective of protective effects of resveratrol against cisplatin-induced ovarian injury in rats: Emphasis on anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects.
   Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology 2019, 392, 1225-1238.
- 233. Stakleff, K.S.; Sloan, T.; Blanco, D.; Marcanthony, S.; Booth, T.D.; Bishayee, A. Resveratrol exerts differential effects in vitro and in vivo against ovarian cancer cells. Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention : APJCP 2012, 13, 1333-1340.
- 234. Lin, J.N.; Lin, V.C.; Rau, K.M.; Shieh, P.C.; Kuo, D.H.; Shieh, J.C.; Chen, W.J.; Tsai, S.C.; Way, T.D. Resveratrol modulates tumor cell proliferation and protein translation via sirt1-dependent ampk activation. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 2010, 58, 1584-1592.
- 235. Regnault, T.R.; Zhao, L.; Chiu, J.S.; Gottheil, S.K.; Foran, A.; Yee, S.P. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor -beta/delta, -gamma agonists and resveratrol modulate hypoxia induced changes in nuclear receptor activators of muscle oxidative metabolism. PPAR research 2010, 2010, 129173.
- Ohshiro, K.; Rayala, S.K.; Kondo, S.; Gaur, A.; Vadlamudi, R.K.; El-Naggar, A.K.; Kumar, R. Identifying the estrogen receptor coactivator pelp1 in autophagosomes. Cancer research 2007, 67, 8164-8171.
- 237. Rodriguez-Enriquez, S.; Pacheco-Velazquez, S.C.; Marin-Hernandez, A.; Gallardo-Perez, J.C.; Robledo-Cadena, D.X.; Hernandez-Resendiz, I.;

Garcia-Garcia, J.D.; Belmont-Diaz, J.; Lopez-Marure, R.; Hernandez-Esquivel, L., et al. Resveratrol inhibits cancer cell proliferation by impairing oxidative phosphorylation and inducing oxidative stress. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 2019, 370, 65-77.

- Hu, S.; Li, X.; Xu, R.; Ye, L.; Kong, H.; Zeng, X.; Wang, H.; Xie, W. The synergistic effect of resveratrol in combination with cisplatin on apoptosis via modulating autophagy in a549 cells. Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica 2016, 48, 528-535.
- 239. Jang, K.Y.; Kim, K.S.; Hwang, S.H.; Kwon, K.S.; Kim, K.R.; Park, H.S.; Park,
  B.H.; Chung, M.J.; Kang, M.J.; Lee, D.G., et al. Expression and prognostic
  significance of sirt1 in ovarian epithelial tumours. Pathology 2009, 41, 366-371.
- 240. Shuang, T.; Wang, M.; Zhou, Y.; Shi, C. Over-expression of sirt1 contributes to chemoresistance and indicates poor prognosis in serous epithelial ovarian cancer (eoc). Medical oncology 2015, 32, 260.
- Mvunta, D.H.; Miyamoto, T.; Asaka, R.; Yamada, Y.; Ando, H.; Higuchi, S.; Ida, K.; Kashima, H.; Shiozawa, T. Sirt1 regulates the chemoresistance and invasiveness of ovarian carcinoma cells. Translational oncology 2017, 10, 621-631.
- 242. Pizarro, J.G.; Verdaguer, E.; Ancrenaz, V.; Junyent, F.; Sureda, F.; Pallas, M.; Folch, J.; Camins, A. Resveratrol inhibits proliferation and promotes apoptosis of neuroblastoma cells: Role of sirtuin 1. Neurochemical research 2011, 36, 187-194.
- 243. Bjorklund, M.; Roos, J.; Gogvadze, V.; Shoshan, M. Resveratrol induces sirt1and energy-stress-independent inhibition of tumor cell regrowth after low-dose platinum treatment. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology 2011, 68, 1459-1467.
- 244. Li, D.; Bi, F.F.; Chen, N.N.; Cao, J.M.; Sun, W.P.; Zhou, Y.M.; Li, C.Y.; Yang, Q. A novel crosstalk between brca1 and sirtuin 1 in ovarian cancer. Sci Rep 2014, 4, 6666.
- 245. Wang, R.H.; Zheng, Y.; Kim, H.S.; Xu, X.; Cao, L.; Luhasen, T.; Lee, M.H.; Xiao, C.; Vassilopoulos, A.; Chen, W., et al. Interplay among brca1, sirt1, and survivin during brca1-associated tumorigenesis. Molecular cell 2008, 32, 11-20.

- 246. Oka, S.; Zhai, P.; Yamamoto, T.; Ikeda, Y.; Byun, J.; Hsu, C.P.; Sadoshima, J. Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-alpha association with silent information regulator 1 suppresses cardiac fatty acid metabolism in the failing heart. Circulation. Heart failure 2015, 8, 1123-1132.
- Chandra, V.; Huang, P.; Hamuro, Y.; Raghuram, S.; Wang, Y.; Burris, T.P.; Rastinejad, F. Structure of the intact ppar-gamma-rxr- nuclear receptor complex on DNA. Nature 2008, 456, 350-356.
- 248. Mangelsdorf, D.J.; Thummel, C.; Beato, M.; Herrlich, P.; Schutz, G.; Umesono,
  K.; Blumberg, B.; Kastner, P.; Mark, M.; Chambon, P., et al. The nuclear
  receptor superfamily: The second decade. Cell 1995, 83, 835-839.
- 249. Mangelsdorf, D.J.; Evans, R.M. The rxr heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 1995, 83, 841-850.
- 250. Wu, S.; Zhang, D.; Zhang, Z.P.; Soprano, D.R.; Soprano, K.J. Critical role of both retinoid nuclear receptors and retinoid-x-receptors in mediating growth inhibition of ovarian cancer cells by all-trans retinoic acid. Oncogene 1998, 17, 2839-2849.
- Kalra, R.S.; Bapat, S.A. Proteomics to predict loss of rxr-gamma during progression of epithelial ovarian cancer. Methods in molecular biology 2019, 2019, 1-14.
- 252. Dampf Stone, A.; Batie, S.F.; Sabir, M.S.; Jacobs, E.T.; Lee, J.H.; Whitfield, G.K.; Haussler, M.R.; Jurutka, P.W. Resveratrol potentiates vitamin d and nuclear receptor signaling. Journal of cellular biochemistry 2015, 116, 1130-1143.
- 253. Xie, C.L.; Zhang, D.; Xia, J.M.; Hu, C.C.; Lin, T.; Lin, Y.K.; Wang, G.H.; Tian, W.J.; Li, Z.P.; Zhang, X.K., et al. Steroids from the deep-sea-derived fungus penicillium granulatum mccc 3a00475 induced apoptosis via retinoid x receptor (rxr)-alpha pathway. Marine drugs 2019, 17.
- 254. Shankaranarayanan, P.; Rossin, A.; Khanwalkar, H.; Alvarez, S.; Alvarez, R.; Jacobson, A.; Nebbioso, A.; de Lera, A.R.; Altucci, L.; Gronemeyer, H. Growth factor-antagonized rexinoid apoptosis involves permissive ppargamma/rxr heterodimers to activate the intrinsic death pathway by no. Cancer cell 2009, 16, 220-231.

- 255. Yamazaki, K.; Shimizu, M.; Okuno, M.; Matsushima-Nishiwaki, R.; Kanemura, N.; Araki, H.; Tsurumi, H.; Kojima, S.; Weinstein, I.B.; Moriwaki, H. Synergistic effects of rxr alpha and ppar gamma ligands to inhibit growth in human colon cancer cells--phosphorylated rxr alpha is a critical target for colon cancer management. Gut 2007, 56, 1557-1563.
- 256. Kueck, A.; Opipari, A.W., Jr.; Griffith, K.A.; Tan, L.; Choi, M.; Huang, J.; Wahl, H.; Liu, J.R. Resveratrol inhibits glucose metabolism in human ovarian cancer cells. Gynecologic oncology 2007, 107, 450-457.
- 257. Deus, C.M.; Serafim, T.L.; Magalhaes-Novais, S.; Vilaca, A.; Moreira, A.C.; Sardao, V.A.; Cardoso, S.M.; Oliveira, P.J. Sirtuin 1-dependent resveratrol cytotoxicity and pro-differentiation activity on breast cancer cells. Archives of toxicology 2017, 91, 1261-1278.
- Ferraresi, A.; Phadngam, S.; Morani, F.; Galetto, A.; Alabiso, O.; Chiorino, G.; Isidoro, C. Resveratrol inhibits il-6-induced ovarian cancer cell migration through epigenetic up-regulation of autophagy. Molecular carcinogenesis 2017, 56, 1164-1181.
- 259. El-Kott, A.F.; Shati, A.A.; Ali Al-Kahtani, M.; Alharbi, S.A. The apoptotic effect of resveratrol in ovarian cancer cells is associated with downregulation of galectin-3 and stimulating mir-424-3p transcription. Journal of food biochemistry 2019, 43, e13072.
- 260. Takashina, M.; Inoue, S.; Tomihara, K.; Tomita, K.; Hattori, K.; Zhao, Q.L.; Suzuki, T.; Noguchi, M.; Ohashi, W.; Hattori, Y. Different effect of resveratrol to induction of apoptosis depending on the type of human cancer cells. International journal of oncology 2017, 50, 787-797.
- 261. Sundar, S.; Neal, R.D.; Kehoe, S. Diagnosis of ovarian cancer. Bmj 2015, 351, h4443.
- 262. Momenimovahed, Z.; Tiznobaik, A.; Taheri, S.; Salehiniya, H. Ovarian cancer in the world: Epidemiology and risk factors. International journal of women's health 2019, 11, 287-299.
- 263. Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian, C.; Beral, V.; Doll,
   R.; Hermon, C.; Peto, R.; Reeves, G. Ovarian cancer and oral contraceptives:
   Collaborative reanalysis of data from 45 epidemiological studies including

23,257 women with ovarian cancer and 87,303 controls. Lancet 2008, 371, 303-314.

- 264. Yang, H.P.; Anderson, W.F.; Rosenberg, P.S.; Trabert, B.; Gierach, G.L.; Wentzensen, N.; Cronin, K.A.; Sherman, M.E. Ovarian cancer incidence trends in relation to changing patterns of menopausal hormone therapy use in the united states. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2013, 31, 2146-2151.
- 265. Vervandier-Fasseur, D.; Latruffe, N. The potential use of resveratrol for cancer prevention. Molecules 2019, 24.

## 12. Acknowledgements

I wish to express my appreciate to all the members of the faculty and staff, the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Germany, for providing me with all the necessary facilities.

Upon the completion of the thesis, I would like to take this opportunity to thank plenty of people who have offered invaluable assistance in the preparation of the dissertation. Some of them deserve special mention:

First of all, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Udo Jeschke, who has given me invaluable guidance throughout this research. His excellent wisdom and insight for scientific research give me a deep impression which is of great value to my future academic life. I am extremely grateful and indebted to him for his expert, sincere and valuable guidance and encouragement extended to me. Though busy in his work, he never hesitated to offer me timely and spiritual support. His wisdom, vision, impartial and motivation have deeply inspired me.

I am also obliged to Artur Mayerhofer, who recommended me to Prof. Dr. Udo Jeschke and has provided me with a lot of support which helped me to adjust to the life of Germany as soon as possible. Thanks to Banjamin Konstantin for his precious help and support.

My sincere appreciate also goes to humorous Christina Kuhn, charming Simone Hofmann, sweet-tempered Martina Rahmeh, warming-hearted Sabina Fink and lovely Cornelia Herbst, for their friendship, patience and professional throughout this research.

I am very grateful to all medical or doctoral students in the same lab. Thanks for all the unforgettable time we shared together. I wish you all happy and success in future.

93

I also thank Dr. Susanne Beyer for her advice on my publication. I will not have my publication without her support.

I would also like to thank China Scholarship Council (CSC), who supported me financially by awarding me the scholarship.

Last, I am deeply indebted to my beloved parents and friends, who unceasingly supported me. Their support and love have accompanied me through the difficult course of the thesis and moments of my life, which beyond description.